Linköping University Medical Dissertations No. 1146

# Inflammation-associated genes and genetic variations in colorectal cancer

Nils Elander



# Linköping University FACULTY OF HEALTH SCIENCES

Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, Linköping University, SE-58185, Linköping, Sweden

Linköping 2009

© Nils Elander 2009

Papers I-V have been reprinted with the permission of the respective copyright holder.

Printed in Sweden by UniTryck, Linköping 2009 ISBN 978-91-7393-560-9 ISSN 0345-0082

# LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I. **Elander N**, Ungerbäck J, Olsson H, Uematsu S, Akira S, Söderkvist P. 2008. Genetic deletion of mPGES-1 accelerates intestinal tumourigenesis in APC(Min/+) mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 372 (1):249-253.
- II. Elander N, Zhou J, Ungerbäck J, Dimberg J, Söderkvist P. 2009. Association between adenomatosis polyposis coli functional status and microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 expression in colorectal cancer. *Mol Carcinog* 48 (5):401-407.
- III. Fransén K, **Elander N**, Söderkvist P. 2005. Nitric oxide synthase 2 (NOS2) promoter polymorphisms in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Lett* 225 (1):99-103.
- IV. Elander N, Söderkvist P, Fransén K. 2006. Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) -1, -2, -3 and -9 promoter polymorphisms in colorectal cancer. *Anticancer Res* 26 (1B):791-795.
- V. Ungerbäck J, Elander N, Dimberg J, Söderkvist P. 2009. Analysis of VEGF polymorphisms, tumour expression of VEGF mRNA and colorectal cancer susceptibility in a Swedish population. *Molecular Medicine Reports* 2:435-439.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
Colorectal cancer – a brief overview	8
The adenoma – carcinoma sequence	
Inflammation-related genes and colorectal cancer	
Linking inflammation and cancer	
Prostaglandin E2 and other lipid mediators	
Prostaglandin E synthase	
Nitric oxide and nitric oxide synthase	
The NOS2 gene	
Matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degradation	
The MMP genes	
VEGF and tumour angiogenesis	
The VEGF gene	
AIMS	
MATERIAL CAND METHODS	
MATERIALS AND WEIHODS	
Materials	
Animals	
Human material	
Cell lines	
Analyses of DNA and RNA	
Real-time PCR	
RNA interference (RNAi)	
Luciferase reporter assays	
Single strand conformation analysis (SSCA)	
Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP)	
Primer extension	
Analyses of proteins and lipids	
Enzyme Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA)	
Western blot	

Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	
Statistics	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Papers I-II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	
Paper V	
CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
LITERATURE CITED	41

# ABSTRACT

Colorectal cancer is a major cause of morbidity and mortality around the world, each year affecting about one million individuals worldwide. The disease is characterized by an accumulation of genetic alterations, and a sequence of events leading to the development of an invasive and metastasising tumour. Chronic or dysregulated inflammation may contribute to tumour initiation and progression via the release and activity of various mediators – *e.g.* cytokines, prostaglandins, inducible nitric oxide synthase (NOS2), matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), and vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF). In the present thesis, genes and genetic alterations controlling these events were analysed and discussed within the context of colorectal cancer.

Prostaglandins, being generated from arachidonic acid in reactions dependent on cyclooxygenases (COX-1, COX-2), have been implicated in carcinogenesis of many organs. Since the quite recent characterization of the terminal and specific prostaglandin synthases, which act downstream of COX enzymes, the search for molecular targets which selectively suppress individual prostanoids has been intensified. In *papers I-II*, the role and regulation of inducible prostaglandin  $E_2$  (PGE<sub>2</sub>) synthase - mPGES-1 - were explored within the context of intestinal cancer. mPGES-1 was genetically deleted in the Apc<sup>Min/+</sup> mouse - yielding marked suppression of PGE<sub>2</sub> generation in intestinal and tumour tissue. However, a shift towards enhanced generation of non-PGE<sub>2</sub> prostanoids was observed in mPGES-1 knock out mice, and these mice developed more and larger instestinal tumours. These results therefore indicate that targeting mPGES-1 may paradoxically promote tumourigenesis, most likely by secondary effects on other potentially pro-tumoural mediators. We also explored the relation of the commonly mutated APC gene and mPGES-1 in colon tumour cells, and found that high expression of mPGES-1 was associated with the presence of wild type APC. Rather than by regulating putative  $\beta$ -catenin/Tcf binding sites of the mPGES-1 promoter, APC seems to influence the stabilisation of mPGES-1 mRNA.

In *papers III-V*, the possible contribution of variations in regulatory regions of genes encoding NOS2, MMPs, and VEGF, was assessed in populations of colorectal cancer patients and healthy control individuals. A single nucleotide insertion (1G/2G) at -1607 upstream the transcription start site of the MMP-1 gene was identified to be a susceptibility factor for colorectal cancer development, although no relation with disease characteristics was observed. Except for a rather uncommon combination of two individual polymorphisms of the VEGF gene, investigated genetic variations of VEGF, other MMPs, and NOS2, were not associated with colorectal cancer susceptibility or clinicopathological characteristics. We therefore suggest that other molecular events play more significant roles for the dysregulation of these genes in colorectal tumours.

In summary, accumulating evidence, including the results here presented, suggest significant albeit complex roles of inflammation-induced genes and mediators in colorectal tumourigenesis. The present results may aid in identifying or excluding potential biomarkers and drug targets within cancer-related inflammation.

# ABBREVIATIONS

adenomatosis polyposis coli
confidence interval
cyclooxygenase
cytosolic prostaglandin E synthase
deleted in colorectal cancer
epidermal growth factor receptor
enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
ethylnitrosurea
familial adenomatsis polyposis
glycogen synthase kinase 3β
hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer
high performance liquid chromatography
horse radish peroxidase
interferon
immunohistochemistry
interleukin
mitogen activated protein kinase
matrix metalloproteinase
matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor
microsomal prostaglandin E synthase
microsatellite instability
nuclear factor-interleukin 6
nuclear factor KB
nitric oxide
nitric oxide synthase 2
non-steoridal anti-inflammatory drug
odds ratio
prostaglandin
phosphoinositide-3-kinase
placental growth factor
phospholipase A2
peroxisome proliferator activator receptor
restriction fragment length polymorphism
RNA induced silencing complex
RNA interference
standard deviation
standard error of the mean
small inhibitory RNA
single nucleotide polymorphism
single strand conformation analysis
Tcf binding element
T-cell factor
tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
Toll-like receptor
tumour necrosis factor
transcription start site
thromboxane
vascular endothelial growth factor
von Hippel-Lindau

#### INTRODUCTION

#### Colorectal cancer – a brief overview

Colorectal cancer is a common and severe disease, each year affecting nearly one million new individuals and being responsible for about half a million deaths worldwide(Parkin 2004; Potter 1999). In general, colon cancers appear with approximately the same frequency among men and women, while rectal cancers are about twice as common in men(Potter 1999). Incidence rates vary around the world, with the highest rates seen in the Western world and the lowest in Asia, Africa and Southern parts of South America(Parkin and Muir 1992; Parkin 2004). Studies on incidence rates among migrants show that immigrants from low-incidence areas, and their descendants, rapidly reach the incidence rate of the host country, which supports the existence of significant environmental risk factors(Haenszel 1961; McMichael and Giles 1988).

Until today, the intake of red meat, fat, alcohol, and smoking have been identified to enhance the risk of developing colorectal cancer, whereas physical activity, the intake of vegetables, and long-term treatment with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) seem to prevent from tumour development (Potter 1999). Most colorectal cancers appear sporadically in the middle to older ages. By contrast, about 5-10% of all cases arise in families which carry highly penetrant mutations in single genes, giving rise to hereditary syndromes that are mostly transmitted as autosomal dominant traits (Mecklin 2008). In addition, numerous of low-penetrance genes and modifier genes contribute to disease development and progression in both sporadic and familial cases (de la Chapelle 2004).

#### The adenoma – carcinoma sequence

Nearly two decades ago, Fearon and Vogelstein presented the adenoma – carcinoma step-wise model of colon cancer development (Fearon and Vogelstein 1990). In this model, the transition of normal colonic mucosa into an aberrant crypt focus (ACF) occurs due to the loss of the adenomatosis polyposis coli (APC) gene, which is a tumour suppressor gene located at chromosome 5q21 whose germ-line mutations are responsible for the familial adenomatosis polyposis (FAP) syndrome (Kinzler et al. 1991; Nishisho et al. 1991). Studies of recent decade have revealed that the APC protein is a key controller of the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling pathway, by being involved in the intracellular process by which  $\beta$ -catenin is phosphorylated and targeted for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation (reviewed in [Schneikert and Behrens 2007]) (figure 1). The large majority of APC mutations result in a premature stop codon and thus a truncated protein(Miyaki et al. 1994; Miyoshi et al. 1992). In the absence of functional APC,  $\beta$ -catenin may translocate to the nucleus, here interacting with members of the T-cell factor (Tcf) family of transcription factors and activating a program of pro-tumoural target genes (Schneikert and Behrens 2007).

Alterations of oncogenes and tumour suppressors such as K-RAS, p53 and SMAD/DCC on chromosome 18q promote further development towards adenoma, carcinoma, and metastasising disease, respectively (reviewed in [Takayama et al. 2006]). K-Ras mutations are found in 40-65% of colorectal cancers, and are thought to activate downstream signals involving Raf/MAPK and PI3K pathways, leading to constitutive growth promotion (Takayama et al. 2006). Further, the presence or absence of K-Ras mutations were found to be prognostic markers for the clinical response to antibodies against the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), which is in line with the current view of Ras/Raf/MAPK as being an important EGFR downstream pathway (reviewed in [Laurent-Puig et al. 2009]).

The p53 gene is commonly mutated and lost in colorectal cancers(S. J. Baker et al. 1989), and is a key tumour suppressor by regulating cell cycle arrest and apoptosis upon genomic damage or other stresses(Green and Kroemer 2009). Similar to above-mentioned prognostic value of K-Ras, the patient's p53 status has been found to correlate with clinical outcome, response to chemotherapy, and survival time (Russo et al. 2005). Finally, allelic loss of chromosome 18q - carrying candidate genes SMAD4/SMAD2 and DCC - is observed in 70% of colorectal tumours, particularly in advanced cancers with hepatic metastases (Fearon and Vogelstein 1990; Takayama et al. 2006).

In contrast with the Vogelstein sequence, sometimes called the 'chromosomal instability pathway', a subgroup of colorectal tumours arises via the 'microsatellite instability pathway' (MSI), where mutations of mismatch repair (MMR) genes precede microsatellite instability and further genetic alterations. The MSI pathway is related to the hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) syndrome, originally defined by Lynch and co-workers in the 1970-ties(Lynch and Krush 1971), which is characterized by the development of cancers of colon and other organs (de la Chapelle 2004).



**Figure 1.** The Wnt/APC/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway. The figure displays a simplified scheme over the Wnt signalling pathway. Wnt ligands interact with membrane bound receptor Frizzled (Frz) and the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein (LRP). In the absence of APC,  $\beta$ -catenin is translocated to the nucleus, where it activates the transcription of  $\beta$ -catenin/Tcf target genes in concert with members of the Tcf family of transcription factors. On the contrary, when functional APC is present, a complex of proteins phosphorylates  $\beta$ -catenin, which leads to ubiquitination and degradation via the proteasomal machinery. CK1 = Casein kinase 1. GSK3B = glycogen synthase kinase 3B. Tcf = T-cell factor, Dsh = Dishevelled. Modified from (Schneikert and Behrens 2007).

#### Inflammation-related genes and colorectal cancer

#### Linking inflammation and cancer

In 2000, Hanahan and Weinberg suggested six 'hallmarks of cancer' which were considered to be fundaments of cancer cell biology, involving self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to anti-growth signals, evasion of apoptosis, the potential of limitless replication, sustained angiogenesis, and the ability to invade tissues and metastasise (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000). Further, since more than a century it has been known that inflammatory cells are commonly present at the site of cancer, although the biological significance of this finding was for long poorly elucidated (reviewed in [Balkwill and Mantovani 2001]). However, incremental clinical and mechanistic evidence during recent decades now support the

existence of a tight link between cancer and inflammation, and, very recently, Colotta *et al* suggested that cancer related inflammation should represent the 'seventh hallmark' in Hanahan and Weinberg's model(Colotta et al. 2009).

Basically, the acute inflammatory response aims at defeating threatening infections or other stressors, and it is characterized by the activation of a broad panel of cytokines, chemokines, interleukins, inducible cyclooxygenase (COX-2), inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS/NOS2), and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), which mediate many features common to both cancer and inflammatory processes, involving tissue degradation, proliferation signals, recruitment of macrophages and other immune cells, and angiogenesis (Aggarwal et al. 2006).

A key factor for orchestrating the innate immune response is the transcriptional factor nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF $\kappa B$ ). The release of bacterial products or tissue damage leads to NF $\kappa B$  activation via the Toll like receptor (TLR)-MyD88 signalling pathway, or interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) and tumour necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) related pathways. Downstream target genes are then induced, with the generation of cytokines, adhesion molecules, COX-2, NOS2, vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF), and tissue degrading enzymes (Aggarwal et al. 2006; Mantovani et al. 2008).

In contrast with the 'good' inflammatory response, aiming at protecting the host, the sustained inflammatory response may paradoxically result in tissue damage and rather precede cancer development (figure 2). There are many triggers for such inflammation being linked with cancer development, including infectious (e.g. helicobacter pylori and gastric cancer, papillomavirus and cervix cancer), chemical (tobacco smoking and lung cancer), and endogenous factors (colitis and colon cancer) (reviewed in [Aggarwal et al. 2006; Mantovani et al. 2008]). Concerning the colon, patients suffering from ulcerative colitis or Crohn's disease are heavily predisposed to develop colon cancer (Vagefi and Longo 2005), where the stimulation of Toll-like receptors by commensal intestinal flora may contribute to tumourigenesis by activating NFkB and downstream cell survival signals in transformed epithelial cells, and/or by activating submucosal immune cells which release proinflammatory factors (reviewed in [Clevers 2004]). On the contrary, it has for long been known from epidemiological studies that non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), whose main mechanism of action is to suppress prostaglandin synthesis, may prevent adenomas and cancers in high risk families as well as among the general population(Giardiello et al. 1993; Huls et al. 2003; Kune et al. 1988; Kune 2000; Waddell and Loughry 1983). Taken together, these findings reveal that inflammatory mediators may significantly contribute to the earliest steps of cancer development.

On the other hand, tumours without any known link with preceding inflammation often contain infiltrating macrophages and other immune cells, indicating that the cancer process itself may initiate the inflammatory process. In fact, some oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes were shown to regulate transcriptional programs which are similar to what occurs during inflammation. Examples of this involves the rearrangement of tyrosin kinase receptor encoding RET/PTC, which commonly occurs in papillary thyroid tumours(Borrello et al. 2005). Mutations affecting Ras-Raf pathway were shown to dysregulate immune responses and angiogenesis in various tumours such as pancreatic cancers and melanomas(Guerra et al. 2007; Sparmann and Bar-Sagi 2004, 2005; Sumimoto et al. 2006), and the inactivation of tumour suppressor von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) may interfere with hypoxia and hypoxia inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) to induce proinflammatory cytokines, chemokine receptors, and angiogenic factors in concert with NF $\kappa$ B (reviewed in [Mantovani et al. 2008]). Further, and of the highest relevance for colorectal malignancy, accumulating evidence points to the intimate cross-talk between the canonical Wnt signalling pathway, the APC tumour suppressor gene, and genes and mediators of inflammation.

Initially, master regulators of cell cycle and transcription, *e.g.* c-myc (He et al. 1998)and cyclin D1(Tetsu and McCormick 1999), were identified to be targets of  $\beta$ -catenin/Tcf. Further studies however reveal that many genes of inflammation are similarly affected by Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signalling, involving COX-2(Araki et al. 2003), NOS2(Du et al. 2006), VEGF(X. Zhang et al. 2001), MMP-2(Wu et al. 2007), MMP-7(Brabletz et al. 1999; Crawford et al. 1999), and MMP-9(Wu et al. 2007).

Taken together, these findings implicate a complex cross-talk between 'classical' cancer genes, and the inflammatory response which takes place in tumour microenvironment. Traditional therapy against cancer focuses on erasing the tumour cells *per se*, while an attractive opportunity is a combination of targeting both malignant cells themselves and inflammatory compartments of the cancer process. Hence, the need for studies defining genes and mediators driving the tumour-promoting inflammation cannot be underestimated.

12



**Figure 2.** Cancer-related inflammation. The figure displays a schematic view of the link between chronic inflammation and cancer. Exogenous or endogenous stimuli may trigger a chronic inflammatory response, which promotes tumour development via the activation of transcription factors such as NF $\kappa$ B, and downstream effector molecules. Tumours without preceding inflammation may themselves initiate or maintain the release of proinflammatory mediators. Modified from (Aggarwal et al. 2006).

#### Prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub> and other lipid mediators

In the 1930-ties, the Swedish physician and scientist Ulf von Euler reported that lipid substances from male genital glands induced blood pressure suppression upon injection into experimental animals (reviewed in[Flower 2006]). Initially, the prostate was believed to be the origin of these substances, although further studies defined the seminal vesicles as their true origin in male genital tract, and forthcoming research revealed that the ability to generate prostaglandins was not restricted to the genital tract. In 1971, Sir John Vane reported the mechanism of aspirin's action, *i.e.* through inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis(Vane 1971), and Samuelsson *et al* later characterized the enzymatic way of prostanoid generation (reviewed in [Samuelsson 1983]). In 1982, Vane, Samuelsson, and the biochemist Bergström, jointly received the Nobel Prize in physiology or medicine for their research on prostaglandins(Check 1982).

Prostaglandins are originally derived from membrane phospholipids, which are cleaved by phospholipase  $A_2$  (PLA<sub>2</sub>) thereby generating arachidonic acid, the mother substance for both the prostaglandin and leukotrien classes of signalling molecules. Arachidonic acid is converted by the cyclooxygenases into prostaglandin  $G_2$  (PGG<sub>2</sub>) and the unstable intermediate prostaglandin  $H_2$  (PGH<sub>2</sub>), which is subsequently metabolised by specific enzymes into the main biologically active prostaglandins  $E_2$ ,  $D_2$ ,  $F_{2\alpha}$ ,  $I_2$  and

thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> (TxA<sub>2</sub>) (fig 3). Prostaglandins and thromboxanes exert a wide plethora of biological actions in the immune system, vascular regulation, central nervous system, reproductive physiology, and cancer biology(Turini and DuBois 2002). In inflammation and tumour biology, most emphasis has been put on the COX-2 isoform, that is induced by mitogenic and proinflammatory stimuli(Turini and DuBois 2002). Rodent models on intestinal cancer reveal that genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibition of this enzyme dramatically suppress tumour development (Barnes and Lee 1998; Jacoby et al. 2000; Oshima et al. 1996; Oshima et al. 2001), and studies on NSAID consumption and colon adenoma and cancer incidences reveal a protective role among humans (Giardiello et al. 1993; Huls et al. 2003; Kune et al. 1988; Kune 2000; Waddell and Loughry 1983).

In colonic cancers, PGE<sub>2</sub> is the most abundant prostaglandin (Pugh and Thomas 1994; Rigas et al. 1993), and promotes cell survival, cell growth, cell migration, invasion and angiogenesis through interference with its G-protein coupled receptors EP1-4 (Chell et al. 2006). The cross-talk between prostaglandins and Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway was recently dissected by Castellone *et al*, who reported that PGE<sub>2</sub>/EP2 signalling interacts with PI3K/Akt and Axin/GSK3 $\beta$ , thereby activating  $\beta$ -catenin activity and stimulating colon cancer cell growth (Castellone et al. 2005). Further, deletion of the EP2 gene suppresses intestinal tumourigenesis in Apc<sup> $\Delta$ 714</sup> mice(Sonoshita et al. 2001), and other studies reveal additional roles of EP1 and EP4 receptors (Kitamura et al. 2003; Mutoh et al. 2002) in mouse models of intestinal tumourigenesis.

Additional non-PGE<sub>2</sub> prostanoids play major roles as well. TxA<sub>2</sub> synthase and TxA<sub>2</sub> are upregulated in colorectal cancers and TxA<sub>2</sub> was shown to induce tumour cell proliferation *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Pradono et al. 2002; Sakai et al. 2006), and administration of a TxA synthase inhibitor blocked hepatic metastasising upon the injection of colonic tumour cells in portal veins of mice (Yokoyama et al. 1995). Qualtrough *et al* recently reported that PGF<sub>2α</sub> was highly abundant in colon cell lines and human tumour specimens, and that it was able to strongly induce proliferation and migration of colon cancer cells *in vitro*(Qualtrough et al. 2007). Further, PGI<sub>2</sub> was shown to interact with the nuclear PPAR $\delta$  receptor and inhibit apoptosis and stimulate cell growth (Cutler et al. 2003; Gupta et al. 2000; D. Wang et al. 2006).

Until today, COX-1/COX-2 inhibition has been the only way of blocking prostaglandins and thromboxanes clinically, which is a powerful but unselective strategy being associated with severe gastrointestinal and cardiovascular side effects, mainly due to the disturbed balance of PGI<sub>2</sub> and TxA<sub>2</sub>. Logically, the search for more specific molecular targets

within the prostaglandin pathway may therefore lead to the development of novel antiinflammatory and anticancer drugs with less severe side effects.



**Figure 3.** The prostaglandin synthesis cascade. The figure displays how PGE<sub>2</sub> and other prostanoids are generated via membrane phospholipids and arachidonic acid. NSAIDs suppress prostanoid formation by inhibition of COX-1 and COX-2. Terminal PG/Tx synthases, including mPGES-1, selectively catalyse the conversion of PGH<sub>2</sub> to the bioactive prostaglandins and thromboxanes, respectively.

#### Prostaglandin E synthase

Currently, three isoforms of prostaglandin E synthase are described in the literature; one cytosolic (cPGES) and two microsomal ones (mPGES-1 and mPGES-2). The inducible isoform mPGES-1 is functionally coupled with COX-2 and is commonly upregulated in inflammatory conditions and cancers (Kamei et al. 2003; Murakami and Kudo 2006; Nardone et al. 2004; Sampey et al. 2005; Yoshimatsu et al. 2001b; Yoshimatsu et al. 2001a).

mPGES-1 was originally identified in 1999 by Jakobsson and coworkers(Jakobsson et al. 1999), and the human mPGES-1 gene structure was further characterized by Forsberg *et al* (Forsberg et al. 2000). The gene spans 18.3 kB, contains three exons, and is situated on chromosome 19q34.3 (Forsberg et al. 2000). The gene is induced by bacterial products, inflammation components and mitogenic stimuli, which activate the Toll like receptor/My88/NF-IL6 (Uematsu et al. 2002) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (R. Han et al. 2002). At the promoter level, interaction between the transcription factor Egr-1 and the proximal GC box in mPGES-1 gene promoter is essential for transcription induction (Naraba et al. 2002).

In colorectal cancers, both mPGES-1 and COX-2 are found upregulated (Eberhart et al. 1994; Kamei et al. 2003; Yoshimatsu et al. 2001b), although marked differences were observed regarding their expression in individual tumours (Yoshimatsu et al. 2001b), implying that COX-2 and mPGES-1 are distinctly regulated.

With regard to COX-2 expression in cancer, several studies imply that loss of APC and subsequent activation of  $\beta$ -catenin/Tcf target genes might contribute to COX-2 induction directly or indirectly (Araki et al. 2003; Dimberg et al. 2001; Eisinger et al. 2006; Hsi et al. 1999; Mei et al. 1999; Prescott and White 1996). Whether mPGES-1 is similarly affected by the APC mutational status has not been investigated until today.

#### Nitric oxide and nitric oxide synthase

Nitric oxide (NO) was for long only known in non-biomedical situations, *e.g.* as an air pollutant. Surprisingly, biological roles of NO were later described, and in 1998, Furchgott, Murad, and Ignarro received the Nobel Prize in medicine or physiology for their discoveries on NO in vascular tonus regulation, and the finding that NO was identical to the endothelial derived relaxing factor (O. Smith 1998). In addition, NO is essentially involved in immunity/inflammation and neurotransmission (reviewed in [Hofseth et al. 2003]).

In the cells, NO is formed of L-arginine in a NADPH and molecular oxygen dependent reaction that depends on nitric oxide synthases (NOSs). Until today, three different isoforms of NOS are known, *i.e.* endothelial NOS (eNOS/NOS1), inducible NOS (iNOS/NOS2), and neuronal NOS (nNOS/NOS3). NOS1 and NOS3 are constitutively expressed and are activated by calcium and calmodulin, while NOS2 is not expressed in resting cells but can be induced in macrophages and other immune competent cells upon the release of immunostimulatory cytokines or bacterial products. NOS2 generates NO independently of intracellular calcium concentrations, and generally generates higher NO concentrations compared with NOS1 and NOS3 (concentrations measured in micromolars) (Hofseth et al. 2003).

The role of NO in cancer biology appears to be complex due to divergent functional activities under normal and patophysiological conditions. Studies have shown that NO, directly or indirectly via its reactive species, might damage DNA and induce mutations (Lala and Chakraborty 2001: Tamir et al. 1996: Tamir and Tannenbaum 1996: Zhuang et al. 2000). Numerous of reports support its role in tumour vascularisation via induction of HIF1 $\alpha$  and VEGF(Jenkins et al. 1995; Kimura et al. 2000; Kimura et al. 2001; Sandau et al. 2000; Sandau et al. 2001a; Sandau et al. 2001b). On the other hand, high concentrations of NO may result in p53 accumulation and induce apoptosis and downregulation of NOS2 in a negative feed-loop manner(Ambs et al. 1998a; Brune et al. 2001; Forrester et al. 1996; Messmer and Brune 1996). With regard to NOS2, which is frequently induced in cancer tissue (Ambs et al. 1998b; Cobbs et al. 1995; Fransén et al. 2002; Thomsen et al. 1994), experiments with targeted deletion or pharmacological inhibition of NOS2 have been performed in murine models to reveal its relevance in intestinal tumourigenesis. Studies demonstrate either suppressed tumour development in the NOS2 deficient state (Ahn and Ohshima 2001; Kawamori et al. 2000; Rao et al. 1999; Rao et al. 2002), or do rather report accelerated tumourigenesis upon NOS2 gene deletion (Fransén 2005; Scott et al. 2001), supporting that the influence of NOS2/NO on tumour development is complex and probably depends on several factors including the tissue context, the supply of substrates and co-factors, the presence of other reactive molecules, host and/or tumour genetic characteristics, and the concentration and temporospatial localisation of generated NO (Hofseth et al. 2003).

#### The NOS2 gene

The 37 kB, 26 exons spanning NOS2 encoding gene is located on chromosome 17q11.2 (Chartrain et al. 1994) and is under the regulation of pathways related to inflammation. NF $\kappa$ B induces the gene via binding to responsive elements in the NOS2 promoter region (Saura et al. 1999), and interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ) may activate NOS2 via the transcription factor IRF-1(Kamijo et al. 1994; Martin et al. 1994). In hypoxic regions of tumours, HIF-1 $\alpha$  is thought to interact with IFN $\gamma$  to induce NOS2 expression (Melillo et al. 1995; Tendler et al. 2001). The 8.3 kB NOS2 promoter region contains responsive elements for AP-1, various STATs, NF $\kappa$ B, c/EBP and CREB, and IRF-1 (reviewed in [Kleinert et al. 2003]), and it is highly polymorphic with many variants influencing NOS2/NO expression and signalling. The polymorphisms indentified may disturb the interaction between transcription factors and responsive elements, and are thought to influence the outcome of infectious and inflammatory conditions where

NOS2/NO is involved, such as diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis and malaria (Hobbs et al. 2002; Kun et al. 1998; Morris et al. 2002; Ohashi et al. 2002).

#### Matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degradation

The first member of the MMP family was discovered in 1962, when Gross *et al* characterized the collagenase that was involved in the metamorphosis of the tadpole (Gross and Lapiere 1962). Since then, a broad family of human MMPs has emerged, being implicated in embryogenesis, wound healing, bone remodelling, inflammatory conditions, cardiovascular disease, and cancer (reviewed in [Zucker and Vacirca 2004]).

Originally, research was mainly focused on the ability of MMPs to degrade extracellular structures such as basement membranes, and these properties of MMPs have for long been associated with cancer cell invasion (Duffy 1987; Liotta et al. 1982; Mignatti et al. 1986; Pauli et al. 1983; Woolley 1984). However, recent findings reveal that the roles of MMPs in tumourigenesis are much more complex and include the mediation of growth factor activation, regulation of cell adhesion and motility, regulation of apoptosis and cell survival, angiogenesis, and immune surveillance (reviewed in [Dervugina and Ouigley 2006]). Not surprising, targeting MMP activity was early seen as a promising approach to limit tumour progression clinically. Though, despite the broad implications of MMPs in cancer progression, clinical trials with MMP inhibitors (MMPIs) have been disappointing so far. The reasons for this remain to be fully elucidated, but the broad spectrum MMPIs available until now have been proposed to not only inhibit tumour promoting activities of MMPs, but also target anti-tumourigenic properties of some MMPs (Overall and Kleifeld 2006). First, MMPs are not acting solely, but do rather build a web of proteolytic enzymes in the tissue with abilities to activate or inhibit other members of the enzyme family. Second, some MMP activity does rather limit tumour progression, either by contributing to the immune response to tumour cells, or by inhibiting angiogenesis by cleaving plasminogen and generate angiostatin (Overall and Kleifeld 2006; Zucker and Vacirca 2004). Hence, further characterization of the role and regulation of individual MMPs, and particulary of those carrying the potential of being drug targets, are requested.

#### The MMP genes

The individual MMPs are encoded by separate genes located on several chromosomes, although a MMP gene cluster is found at chromosome 11g22 (Clark et al. 2008). Numerous of regulatory mechanisms may influence the ultimate activity of an MMP, including regulation of transcription, DNA methylation/acetylation, mRNA stabilisation, activation of latent MMPs, and inhibition of MMPs by naturally existing tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs)(Clark et al. 2008; Ye 2000). The latter is present with MMP-2, which is widely expressed in 'resting' conditions, but under tight control of activating and inhibiting enzymes in the MMP and TIMP families of enzymes. However, for many MMPs, a key step is transcriptional regulation, because these genes are normally silenced in the absence of inducing signals(Ye 2000). The promoter regions of many MMPs contain AP-1 and PEA-3 consensus elements interacting with members of the Fos/Jun or Ets families of transcription factors, and these elements and transcription factors respond to various MMP inducing stimuli including phorbol ester, cytokines, and growth factors (Angel et al. 1987; Gaire et al. 1994; Ye 2000). Further, MMP-9 is a direct target of NFkB signalling in inflammation and tumourigenesis (St-Pierre et al. 2004), and genes encoding MMPs -2, -7, -9, and -26 contain functional Tcf/Lef responding elements in their 5' regulatory regions(Brabletz et al. 1999; Crawford et al. 1999; Marchenko et al. 2002; Wu et al. 2007), linking the roles of MMPs in inflammation and cancer at the level of transcriptional regulation.

MMPs are generally upregulated and involved in the development, invasion, and metastasis of colonic tumours (*e.g.* [E. A. Baker et al. 2000; Murray et al. 1996; Parsons et al. 1998]). Polymorphic sites in regulatory regions of MMP genes may influence gene and protein expressions and contribute to susceptibility and outcome of autoimmune disorders, cardiovascular disease, and many cancers including those of the lung, the gastrointestinal tract, the mammary, and the gynaecological sphere(Dunleavey et al. 2000; Ghilardi et al. 2001; Grieu et al. 2004; Hinoda et al. 2002; Jones et al. 2003; Matsumura et al. 2005; Miao et al. 2003; Price et al. 2001; Rutter et al. 1998; Y. Wang et al. 2005; E. Xu et al. 2004; Ye et al. 1995; Ye et al. 1996; Yu et al. 2002; B. Zhang et al. 1999; Zinzindohoue et al. 2004; Zinzindohoue et al. 2005).

#### VEGF and tumour angiogenesis

The ability to form new blood vessels is vital for normal embryogenesis, pregnancy, wound healing and restoration of injured tissues (reviewed in [Birk et al. 2008]), but, if occuring

uncontrolled, it is a hallmark of cancer progression (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000). The first VEGF was originally characterized in 1983 and was initially called vascular permeability factor (Senger et al. 1983). Since then, other VEGFs have been identified, and hence the 'original' VEGF is also called VEGF-A, in contrast with the other family members VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E, and PIGF (placental growth factor)(Birk et al. 2008).

Early studies, together with more recent reports, support a key role for VEGF in initiating tumour angiogenesis in various malignancies. Interestingly, recent clinical studies reveal that VEGF-targeting monoclonal antibodies, in combination with standard chemotherapeutics, are able to retard the progression of metastasised colorectal cancer and improve median survival, progression-free survival, and time to progression (Giantonio et al. 2007; Hurwitz et al. 2004).

The biological effects of VEGFs are exerted via their interaction with the membrane bound tyrosine kinase family receptors VEGFR-1, -2, and -3. Upon ligand-receptor interaction, active receptors are created when two receptors dimerize and autophosphorylate via tyrosine kinase domains. VEGF-A acts as ligand for VEGFR-1 and -2, whereas VEGFR-3 rather interacts with VEGFs -C and –D. Activation of intracellular signalling - including MAPK, PKC, and Akt pathways - results in increased vascular permeability, promotion of cell survival, cell proliferation and cell migration through activation of nitric oxide, eicosanoids, metalloproteinases, and other downstream effectors (reviewed in [Zachary and Gliki 2001]).

#### The VEGF gene

The VEGF gene is located on chromosome 6p12 and includes a 14 kB coding region consisting of eight exons, and exhibits alternate splicing to form a family of protein isoforms with some variability in function and binding specificity(Tischer et al. 1991). Many stimuli including growth factors, female hormones, inflammatory cytokines, and cellular hypoxia regulate the VEGF expression. The promoter region of VEGF contains response elements for Sp1, STAT3, AP-1, Egr-1, AP-2, oestrogens, progesterone, and HIF-1 $\alpha$ , the latter being overexpressed/activated in growing tumours where hypoxia drives angiogenesis(Birk et al. 2008; Kuwai et al. 2003; Pages and Pouyssegur 2005; Zhong et al. 1999). Recently, results of our laboratory suggested that variations of the HIF1 $\alpha$  gene may control the growth pattern of colon cancers and precede the development of ulcerative tumours(Fransén et al. 2006),

although it is unclear whether this correlation is directly coupled with VEGF activity, or some other target gene(s) of HIF1 $\alpha$ .

In addition, the VEGF gene expression is enhanced upon loss of tumour suppressors VHL, p53 and p73(Igarashi et al. 2002; Salimath et al. 2000; L. Zhang et al. 2000), and activation of oncogenes Ras, Src, HER2/neu, and Bcr/Abl (Mukhopadhyay et al. 1995; Rak et al. 1995b; Rak et al. 1995a).

The promoter is highly polymorphic, and several SNPs which significantly affect VEGF expression have been identified(Renner et al. 2000; Stevens et al. 2003; Watson et al. 2000). These exert possible biomarkers for VEGF activity and disease progression in varying conditions where inflammation and angiogenesis are thought to play roles including Behcet's disease(Nam et al. 2005), adult respiratory distress syndrome(Medford et al. 2005), arthritis(Butt et al. 2007; S. W. Han et al. 2004), and cancer(Howell et al. 2002; Jin et al. 2005; Koukourakis et al. 2004; Sfar et al. 2006).

# AIMS

In the present thesis, genes and genetic variations controlling cancer-related inflammation were analysed within the context of colorectal cancer. The specific aims were:

- To study the role of mPGES-1 in intestinal carcinogenesis, and to define molecular alterations of the APC/β-catenin pathway which are potentially associated with mPGES-1 overexpression in colon tumour cells (*papers I-II*).
- II. To study variations of genes encoding NOS2, MMPs, and VEGF, and their relation with colorectal cancer susceptibility and clinicopathological characteristics (*papers III-V*).

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Materials

#### Animals

In 1990, Moser *et al*(Moser et al. 1990) identified a mouse carrying multiple intestinal neoplasias in a colony of animals treated with the mutagen ethylnitrosurea (ENU). The responsible gentic event was later identified as a germline truncating mutation at codon 850 in one of the APC alleles, hence the mutant was named Apc<sup>Min/+</sup>(Su et al. 1992). Since then, the Apc<sup>Min/+</sup> mouse has become one of the most widely used animal models for studies on intestinal cancer. In the current thesis, Apc<sup>Min/+</sup> mice on the C57BL/6 background were intercrossed with mice harboring a targeted deletion of the mPGES-1 encoding gene, previously generated by Uematsu *et al* (Uematsu et al. 2002). Mice of Apc<sup>Min/+mPGES-1+/+</sup>, Apc<sup>Min/+mPGES-1+/-</sup> and Apc<sup>Min/+mPGES-1-/-</sup> were generated through subsequent intercrossings. Intestines and tumours were examined and isolated for further analyses. All animal expriments were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee at the Linköping University.

#### Human material

Colorectal tumour biopsies, paired intestinal mucosal biopsies approximately 10 cm from the tumour, and blood samples were collected from more than 300 patients at the County Hospital Ryhov, Jönköping and University Hospital, Linköping, Sweden. Blood samples were also obtained from randomly selected healthy individuals from the same geographical area. Clinical information regarding age and gender of the patient, tumour localization, disease staging, and pathological growth pattern were obtained from the clinical records. Tissue and blood samples were immediately snap frozen and stored at -80°C until further handling, including paraffin embedding and isolation of protein, RNA and DNA. All studies involving human material were approved by the Research Ethics Committee at Linköping University.

#### Cell lines

Human colon cancer cell lines HT29 and HCT116 were used for studying the regulation of mPGES-1 *in vitro*. HT29 cells lack the expression of full length APC, in contrast with HCT116 cells(K. J. Smith et al. 1993) which express full length APC naturally. In *paper II*, HT29 cells harboring a vector, with a metallothionin driven promoter coupled to the wild type APC gene, were kindly given by Dr. Bert Vogelstein(Morin et al. 1996). By stimulating these cells with zinc, full length APC was expressed. On the other hand, APC was silenced in HCT116 cells with *siRNA*, and naïve HT29 cells were similarly treated with *siRNA* targeting  $\beta$ -catenin.

#### Analyses of DNA and RNA

#### Real-time PCR

Real-time PCR provides an ability to monitor the progress of the PCR as it occurs, rather than at the end of the reaction that is done with traditional PCR. The target of interest is amplified in a cyclic manner, and the quantification is based on the time point when the amount of target reaches the point of detection, *i.e.* the C<sub>t</sub> value (www.appliedbiosystems.com). Since the method was first developed in the beginning of the 1990-ties(Higuchi et al. 1992), it has revolutionised the way of rapidly and accurately quantifying DNA and RNA. In papers *I*, *II* and *V*, RNA was isolated from either tissue specimens or cell lines with commercially available reagents. Equal amounts of RNA were subsequently reversely transcribed to cDNA, and real-time PCR was performed with predesigned primers and probes targeting the human or murine genes of interest. C<sub>t</sub> values were related to endogenous control genes ( $\Delta$ Ct), and relative expression (2<sup>- $\Delta$ Ct</sup>) was normalised to the average expression in non-tumour control tissue (2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct</sup>) (*paper 1*). Alternatively, relative concentrations were translated into a relative concentration unit presented by a standard curve that was co-amplified in each experiment (*papers II and V*).

#### **RNA** interference (RNAi)

In 1998, Andrew Fire and co-workers described the principles of RNA interference (RNAi) a gene silencing mechanism by which double stranded RNA induces the degradation of corresponding mRNAs (Fire et al. 1998). The discoveries yielded the Nobel Prize in 2006, and RNAi is now not only known as a natural process by which cells regulate gene expression, but also as a powerful method for gene silencing in molecular biology research(Couzin 2006). Upon introduction of short double stranded RNA oligonucleotides, complementary host mRNA is degraded in an intracellular process driven by the RNA induced silencing complex (RISC) (Hutvagner 2005). In *paper II*, RNAi was performed by transfecting colon cancer cells *in vitro* with small inhibitory RNA oligonucleotides (*siRNA*). To ensure successful gene silencing, pools of four different oligonucleotides were used, targeting the genes of interest, *i.e.* APC or  $\beta$ -catenin. The attenuated expression of the targets was confirmed at the protein level with Western blot, and functionally the experiments were evaluated by assessing the expression of previously known target genes of APC and  $\beta$ catenin.

#### Luciferase reporter assays

Luciferase is the generic name for naturally occurring enzymes, produced by fireflies and other organisms, which are characterized by their ability to emit light upon the oxidation of their substrates, *i.e.* luciferins. In biomedical studies, luciferase activity is often used as a reporter to assess the transcriptional activity in cells that have been transfected with a genetic construct containing the luciferase gene under the control of a promoter of interest(Fan and Wood 2007). In *paper II*, HT29 colon cancer cells were transfected with a luciferase reporter vector containing the -1455/+70 promoter sequence of the mPGES-1 gene, or a series of deletion construct of this. The luciferase activity was then assessed in cells with and without the induction of full length APC and normalized to the activity of  $\beta$ -galactosidase control vector, to characterize whether any parts of the promoter region were influenced by the current APC status.

#### Single strand conformation analysis (SSCA)

Since the publications of Orita *et al* 1989(Orita et al. 1989b; Orita et al. 1989a), SSCA has become widely used as a rapid and sensitive method for the detection of DNA point mutations. Most often, PCR is used to generate multiple copies of the DNA fragment of interest. In a secondary reaction, the fragments are labelled with radioactivity and then electrophoretically separated on a gel, usually of poly-acrylamide, under non-denaturing conditions. Depending on whether any mutation is present or not, the single-stranded DNA fragments form different secondary structures with distinct migration patterns on the gel. Final detection and interpretation is performed upon the exposure of the gels to radiosensitive films. The above mentioned PCR-SSCA approach was used in *paper III* to detect polymorphisms in the promoter region of the NOS2 gene.

#### **Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP)**

The discovery and characterization of the restriction enzymes rendered the Nobel Prize in 1978 for Werner Arber, Dan Nathans and Hamilton Smith(The Nobel prizewinners 1978: medicine. From modest beginnings 1978). In mutation analysis, restriction enzymes can be used to discriminate between two alleles if the mutation or polymorphism creates or abolishes a restriction site. In *papers III-IV*, the RFLP principle was used for the detection of some of the polymorphisms of interest. Following PCR amplification, the DNA fragments were incubated with the appropriate restriction enzyme. Cleaved or uncleaved fragments were then separated electrophoretically on agarose gels and visualized with ethidium bromide and UV-light.

#### **Primer extension**

In *papers IV-V*, a PCR/primer extension approach was used to discriminate between different alleles of the polymorphic sites in the MMP and VEGF promoter regions. DNA fragments were amplified with PCR and the fragments underwent a primer extension reaction with ~20 bp primers matching a region in the close vicinity of the SNP of interest. Under the appropriate conditions, the primer will hybridize to its complementary sequence, and a thermosequenase will introduce single nucleotides complementary to the template at the 3' end of primer. For the MMP promoter fragments, three standard deoxyribonucleotides (dNTPs) were included, but one of the dNTP was replaced with a didexyribonucleotide

(ddNTP), which terminates the reaction upon its introduction in the elongating DNA strand. The size of the fragments generated by primer extension will differ depending on whether the mutation is present or not, and for the MMP polymorphisms, fragments were finally separated by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Similarly, the extension reactions of VEGF gene fragments included dideoxynucleotides, but these were rather labelled with different dyes, enabling subsequent computerised detection and allele-discrimination.

#### Analyses of proteins and lipids

#### Enzyme Linked ImmunoSorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA as a novel immunoassay was originally described in 1971 by two independent laboratories(Engvall and Perlmann 1971; Van Weemen and Schuurs 1971). Basically, in ELISA an unknown amount of antigen is affixed to a surface, and then a specific antibody is washed over the surface so that it can bind to the antigen. The antibody is linked to an enzyme, and in the final step a substrate is added which the enzyme can convert to a detectable signal. In *papers I-II*, predesigned ELISA kits were used to determine the amounts of PGE<sub>2</sub>, PGF<sub>2a</sub>, PGI<sub>2</sub>, PGD<sub>2</sub> and TxA<sub>2</sub>, or their stable metabolites, in samples of tumour and normal intestines from Apc<sup>Min/+</sup> mice or the growth media of cell lines, respectively. Tissue samples were collected and immediately homogenized with a buffer containing indomethacin which blocked any remaining COX activity, before undergoing ELISA analyses. The absorbance was measured and converted to a concentration unit which was given by the standard curve that was co-run in every experiment.

#### Western blot

Western blot was originally described in the late 1970-ties(Burnette 1981; Renart et al. 1979; Towbin et al. 1979), and has since then become a standard method for the detection and quantitation of specific proteins in a sample homogenate. It combines the ability to separate native or denatured proteins by the length of the polypeptide (denaturing conditions) or by the 3-D structure of the protein (native conditions) in gel electrophoresis with the ability to easily detect them following transfer to a nitrocellulose or PVDF membrane. In *paper II*, denatured protein lysates from colon cancer cell lines or tissue specimens were separated on poly-

acrylamide gels. Electroblotting to PVDF membranes was then performed, with subsequent incubation in primary and secondary antibody solutions, respectively. Secondary antibodies were linked to horse radish peroxidase (HRP), enabling subsequent detection with enhanced chemiluminiscence and exposure to a digital camera.

#### Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

The first immunohistochemical staining was performed in the 1940ties, when Coons et al identified pneumococci using a direct immunofluorescent method. Since then, the method has undergone major development and become a routin method for the detection of proteins in tissue specimens *in situ*. Today several IHC variants exist with different types of antibodies, enzymes, and detection methods (reviewed in [Burnett et al. 1997]). In *paper II*, paraffin embedded slides from colorectal tumours were stained for mPGES-1. Before incubation with the primary polyclonal antibody, antigen retrieval was performed through boiling the slides for 30 minutes in a citrate buffer. The secondary antibody used was conjucated with horse-radish peroxidise (HRP), and visual detection followed the oxidation of the substrate (DAB+), which yields a brown colour upon oxidation. Slides were finally counterstained with hematoxylin.

#### Statistics

Quantitative variables were generally expressed as means  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM) and compared with Student's t-test. Categorical variables such as geno/allelo-types were analysed with Yates-corrected  $\chi$ 2-test or Fischer's exact test, and the odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were determined. For genotype distributions in the control populations, Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was confirmed for all polymorphisms investigated. When appropriate, power analyses were performed with either PS v2.1.31, or the open access calculator found at UCLA:s homepage (http://calculators.stat.ucla.edu/powercalc/). If not stated otherwise, all calculations were performed with the SPSS software (SPSS UK Ltd., Woking, UK). In general, *p*-values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### Papers I-II

In *paper I*, APC<sup>Min/+</sup> mice with homozygous deletion of the mPGES-1 encoding gene were generated to asses the role of mPGES-1 in intestinal carcinogenesis, and to determine whether blocking of mPGES-1/PGE<sub>2</sub> render any secondary effects on the generation of other prostanoids downstream COX-1/COX-2.

Briefly, we observed a two fold enhanced tumour frequency among the mPGES-1 knock out mice, which was also accompanied by increased mean tumour size. By contrast, previous studies with deletion or inhibition of COX-2 rather suppressed tumour development in animal models of intestinal cancer (Barnes and Lee 1998; Jacoby et al. 2000; Oshima et al. 1996; Oshima et al. 2001). The mPGES-1 lacking animals of the present study however presented with a shifted balance of non-PGE<sub>2</sub> eicosanoids in tumours and corresponding normal mucosa, with enhanced tissue concentrations of PGF<sub>2a</sub>, PGI<sub>2</sub>, TxA<sub>2</sub>, and PGD<sub>2</sub>. Similar findings have been previously described in neuronal tissue, gastric mucosa and macrophages where mPGES-1 was deleted in vitro and in vivo (Boulet et al. 2004; Brenneis et al. 2008; Trebino et al. 2005), indicating that 'selectively' targeting mPGES-1/PGE<sub>2</sub> might still indirectly influence the general prostaglandin balance. Interestingly, recent reports put forward significant roles for these non-PGE<sub>2</sub> mediators in tumourigenesis, including stimulation of tumour growth and motility, angiogenesis and metastasis (see introduction) (Cutler et al. 2003; Gupta et al. 2000; Mutoh et al. 2002; Park et al. 2007; Pradono et al. 2002; Qualtrough et al. 2007; Sakai et al. 2006; D. Wang et al. 2006; D. Wang and Dubois 2008; Zamuner et al. 2005). Hence, a redirected prostanoid generation, with enhanced tissue concentrations of these mediators, exerts a possible mechanism which accelerates tumourigenesis in mPGES-1 deficient animals.

Nakanishi *et al.* (Nakanishi et al. 2008) very recently demonstrated conflicting data with regard to ours. They employed two other animal models of intestinal cancer, *i.e.* Apc<sup> $\Delta$ 14/+</sup> and *AOM*-injected mice, where targeted mPGES-1 gene deletions were introduced. In their models, tumourigenesis was suppressed in the mPGES-1 deficient state, and PGE<sub>2</sub> was lowered without altering the profile of other primary bioactive PGH<sub>2</sub> metabolites (*i.e.* TxA<sub>2</sub>, PGD<sub>2</sub>, PGF<sub>2α</sub>, and PGI<sub>2</sub>). The reasons for the diverging data are obscure, but different animal models have indeed been used, with different features regarding the APC mutational status and the distribution of intestinal tumours. Apc<sup>Min/+</sup> and Apc<sup> $\Delta$ 14/+</sup> mice predominantly

present with tumours of small intestine, in contrast with AOM-treated mice which rather develop lesions of colon and rectum. With regard to the prostaglandin concentrations, the metabolites were determined in both papers with slightly different approaches. Nakanishi *et al.* used the entire colon or distal part of small intestine for metabolite measurements with a HPLC based analysis, whereas we used ELISA, which allowed measurements in polyps and non-polyp, healthy biopsies *per se*, rather than pooled tissue.

In *paper II*, we continued with analysing the association between the APC tumour suppressor gene and mPGES-1 in colon tumour cells of cell cultures and tumour specimens. Previously, the loss of wild type APC has been proposed to be an event contributing to COX-2 upregulation in colon cancer cells(Araki et al. 2003; Dimberg et al. 2001; Eisinger et al. 2006; Hsi et al. 1999; Mei et al. 1999; Prescott and White 1996), while a similar possible relation for mPGES-1 has not been studied so far.

The expression of mPGES-1 and COX-2 was determined in relation with APC gene status in HT29 and HCT116 colon cancer cells. Induction of APC in HT29 cells was followed by upregulation of mPGES-1 and PGE<sub>2</sub>, whilst COX-2 mRNA was unaffected and COX-2 protein was downregulated, indicating that mPGES-1 rather than COX-2 was the ratelimiting step in PGE<sub>2</sub> generation under the current conditions. Results on COX-2 supports those obtained by Hsi *et al*(Hsi et al. 1999), who suggested that loss of APC influenced COX-2 at the protein rather than gene/mRNA level in HT29 cells. Silencing of APC in HCT-116 cells yielded the opposite outcome, revealing downregulation of mPGES-1 mRNA and protein.

A similar relationship, however of border-line significance (p=0.059), was observed in biopsies of human colorectal tumours, where the absence of mutant APC correlated with enhanced mPGES-1 expression. In line with previous reports (Kamei et al. 2003; Yoshimatsu et al. 2001b), tumours in general displayed induced mPGES-1 expression, and mPGES staining was essentially limited to tumour epithelial cells.

Luciferase assays with the putative mPGES-1 promoter region, and deletion constructs of it, revealed similar activity in both APC- and mock-induced HT29 cells, implying that the association with APC status and mPGES-1 regulation was not occurring at the promoter level. Further, since the mPGES-1 promoter region contains several potential  $\beta$ catenin/Tcf binding elements (*TBEs*) within the first 1500-bp upstream of TSS, we explored whether the  $\beta$ -catenin status could influence the mPGES-1 expression. However, no altered mPGES-1 expression was observed upon *siRNA* silencing of  $\beta$ -catenin in HT29 cells, indicating no or a limited biological significance for the potential *TBEs* identified in the mPGES-1 promoter. In contrast, RNA degradation assays revealed retarded degradation of mPGES-1 mRNA in APC-induced HT29 cells, suggesting that APC influences RNA stability, rather than transcriptional activity, of mPGES-1.

Former reports have mainly focused on factors and signals involved in the induction of mPGES-1 transcription, such as NF-IL6(Uematsu et al. 2002) or the MAPK pathway(R. Han et al. 2002), while, to our knowledge, until now little is known about regulation at the mRNA stability level. Although the molecular mechanisms need further dissection, the results of *paper II* imply that mPGES-1 mRNA might be a target for post-transcriptional regulation in tumour cells, and that this process is influenced by the APC mutation status.

Taken together, *papers I-II* confirm that mPGES-1 is crucial for the generation of PGE<sub>2</sub> in colon tumour cells, although deletion of the gene may lead to significant shift towards the generation of other potentially pro-tumoural mediators downstream COX-2/PGH<sub>2</sub>. The results therefore question previously made expectations on inhibiting mPGES-1 for anticancer purposes, and support a view where the entire prostanoid balance, rather than one mediator solely, influences tumour biology. Further, a complex interaction between APC gene status and COX-2/mPGES-1/PGE<sub>2</sub> emerges, suggesting that wild type APC influences mPGES-1 mRNA stability rather than mPGES-1 transcriptional regulation.

#### Paper III

In *paper III*, 131 colorectal cancer patients and 160 healthy controls were genotyped for four different polymorphisms in the 5' regulatory region of the NOS2 gene. The polymorphisms investigated have previously been found to affect the development and outcome of various infectious and inflammatory diseases where NOS2 is involved, including malaria, diabetes, and rheumatoid arthritis (Boutlis et al. 2003; Gonzalez-Gay et al. 2004; Hobbs et al. 2002; Kun et al. 1998; Levesque et al. 1999; Morris et al. 2002; Ohashi et al. 2002; Pascual et al. 2002; W. Xu et al. 1997).

First, two SNPs at -954 (G/C) and -1173 (C/T) upstream of the NOS2 transcription start site (TSS) were analysed among more than 100 patients and control individuals, revealing no polymorphic individuals at all. Other studies on Caucasian populations are in agreement with our findings, and to our knowledge these SNPs have until now only been identified in African populations, where they in some studies have been associated with the outcome and clinical characteristics of malaria(Boutlis et al. 2003; Hobbs et al. 2002; Kun et al. 1998; Levesque et al. 1999; Pascual et al. 2002). While performing the SSCA for the -1173 polymorphism, we however found a novel T/C substitution at -1144 among ~2% of patients as well as control individuals. Whether this SNP rends any influence on NOS2 promoter activity or has any impact for any other clinical conditions remains to be elucidated.

A (TAAA)<sub>n</sub> repeatable variant located -756 to -716 upstream TSS was identified by Bellamy and co-workers(Bellamy and Hill 1997), and later found in association with diabetic complications(Morris et al. 2002). In the present material, no association with colorectal cancer susceptibility or clinicopathological features was observed. Another multiallelic (CCTTT)<sub>n</sub> polymorphism, located 2.5 kB upstream TSS(W. Xu et al. 1997), was previously shown to influence the severity of malaria(Ohashi et al. 2002) and the outcome of atopic conditions(Konno et al. 2001). When analysing the present population, the alleles were however similarly distributed among both patients and controls, with copy numbers reaching from eight to seventeen in the present material. A stratification system according to Hobbs *et* al(Hobbs et al. 2002) was employed to stratify the fragments in 'long' (12 and more) vs. 'short' (8-11) alleles. The proportions of 'long' and 'short' alleles were similar in both populations, implying a limited role for this polymorphism in colorectal cancer development.

Later studies have however indicated a contribution for this polymorphism in some other cancers including gastric and urothelial carcinomas, where the high activity 'longer' alleles (n > 11) generally enhance disease susceptibility or progression(Kaise et al. 2007; Sawa et al. 2008; Shen et al. 2007; Tatemichi et al. 2005).

Collectively, none of the investigated polymorphisms in the NOS2 promoter region seem to contribute to colorectal cancer development or clinicopathological features. Most likely, other events contribute to the high expression of NOS2 that is seen in many colorectal tumours, including the possible modulation of upstream regulatory genes and pathways.

#### Paper IV

In *paper IV*, a possible association between MMP promoter polymorphisms and the susceptibility for colorectal cancer was investigated. In total, 127 patients and 208 randomly chosen control individuals from the same geographical area were genotyped for four different SNPs in the regulatory regions of the MMP-1, -2, -3, and -9 genes, respectively.

With regard to the MMP-1 1G/2G polymorphism, located at -1607 of TSS, the 2G allele creates an Ets binding site which is associated with enhanced promototer activity(Rutter et al. 1998). The 2G allele was more frequently occurring among the patients than healthy controls in the present study (OR=1.4, 95% CI 1.02-1.96, p=0.037), although no associations with disease characteristics, including age of diagnosis, Duke's staging, tumour growth pattern and anatomical localisation, were identified. Other studies on colorectal cancer populations of different nationalities and ethnicities have described similar results(Ghilardi et al. 2001; Hinoda et al. 2002), collectively indicating an association with the 2G allele and the enhanced susceptibility of developing colorectal cancer.

Regarding overall survival and disease progression, previous investigations reveal varying results. Ghilardi *et al*(Ghilardi et al. 2001) studied an Italian population of 60 colon cancer patients, and revealed an association between the 2G allele and metastasising disease. In consistence, results obtained by Zinzindohoue *et al* (Zinzindohoue et al. 2005) pointed to an inverse relationship between the number of 2G alleles and disease survival. On the other hand, Hettiaratchi *et al*(Hettiaratchi et al. 2007) unexpectedly found that the 5-year survival was more favourable among 2G/2G carriers in a population of 503 Australian colorectal cancer patients. The reasons for the inconsistent results obtained are not well known, but speculatively they might reflect the dichotomous functions of MMPs in tumour biology with both pro- and anti-tumourigenic properties under different disease stages. However, by chance associations, varying patient/tumour characteristics, or variations depending on different ethnical populations can not be excluded.

Concerning MMP-3, a -1171 5A/6A SNP was identified by Ye and co-workers and found to be associated with suppressed promoter activity and coronary atherosclerosis(Ye et al. 1996). The 6A allele has been associated with reduced as well as enhanced susceptibility for varying types of cancer(Ghilardi et al. 2001; Hinoda et al. 2002; Zinzindohoue et al. 2004), but in the present study, no relation with colorectal cancer susceptibility or clinicopathological features was observed. MMP-2 and -9 has for long been known to degrade the basement membrane component collagen IV, and have been implicated in cancer invasion and metastasis due to this ability (reviewed in [Mook et al. 2004]). A -1306 C/T substitutive polymorphism was identified in the regulatory region of the MMP-2 gene, being associated with lower promoter activity(Price et al. 2001). In contrast with our findings, revealing no relation to either susceptibility or disease characteristics, the high activity C allele was associated with colon cancer susceptibility and invasiveness in a Chinese population of similar size as ours (E. Xu et al. 2004).

Finally, a C/T substitution, located at -1562 in the MMP-9 promoter, was previously associated with poor outcome of gastric cancer(Matsumura et al. 2005), but positive prognostic findings of mammary cancer(Grieu et al. 2004). However, no association with colorectal cancer susceptibility or characteristics was observed in the present material.

Taken together, several studies including ours reveal an association between the MMP-1 -1607 2G allele and the susceptibility for colorectal cancer, although diverse results remain regarding its relation with disease progression and characteristics. With regard to MMP-2, -3 and -9, the investigated SNPs appear less likely to influence colorectal cancer development or progression.

#### Paper V

VEGF induced angiogenesis is a crucial event during the growth and progression of solid malignancies, including colorectal cancers. Previously, variation of the upstream HIF1 $\alpha$  gene was correlated with growth pattern of colorectal tumours(Fransén et al. 2006), although the role of variations of the VEGF gene has been scarcely investigated until now.

In *paper V*, five polymorphisms located in the regulatory regions of the VEGF gene were examined in a colorectal cancer population of 302 individuals, and allelotypes, genotypes, and haplotypes were compared with 336 healthy controls. Further, possible associations with VEGF mRNA expression in tumours and normal colonic mucosa were assessed among a subset of patients.

The genetic variants investigated were situated in the promoter and 5'untranslated region at -2578 (C/A), -2549 (del/ins 18 bp), -1154 (G/A), and -634 (G/C) compared to TSS. These have previously been found to influence promoter activity and VEGF expression levels(Brogan et al. 1999; Stevens et al. 2003; Watson et al. 2000). In addition, one SNP in the 3'-UTR was examined (+936 C/T), with suppressive influence on VEGF plasma levels(Renner et al. 2000). The SNPs and insertion in the promoter/5'-UTR were found to be in tight LD (|D'| = 0.91-1.00) and hence considered to be a block, while the +936 C/T was only weakly associated with the other polymorphisms (|D'| = 0.05-0.19) and hence not included in haplotype analyses. The -2578 C/A and the -2549 del/ins site were confirmed to be in complete LD and -2578 C/A was therefore used as a marker for these SNPs in further analyses.

Generally, the genotypes and haplotypes investigated were similarly distributed among cases and controls, and no association with clinicopathological parameters (age, gender, tumour localisation, Duke's stage, pathological phenotype) was observed. However, when combining the -2578C and +936T alleles a small yet significant overrepresentation in the colorectal cancer population was revealed (OR=1.6, 95% CI 1.3-1.6).

Not surprisingly, VEGF mRNA was ~2-fold enhanced in tumours compared to corresponding normal mucosa, which is in agreement with previous papers reporting enhanced plasma and tumour VEGF expression among colorectal cancer patients(Garcia et al. 2008; Yamamori et al. 2004), although no genotypes or haplotypes were able to significantly discriminate between high vs. low-expressing samples in the present study.

Other recent studies reveal contradictory data regarding the influence of VEGF gene polymorphisms on colorectal cancer susceptibility and outcome. Very recently, Lurje *et* 

*al* reported that the high expression +936 C/C genotype was associated with shorter time to disease recurrence among stage III colon cancer patients(Lurje et al. 2008). On the contrary, Dassoulas *et al* reported an association between the +936 T/T, as well as the 2578 A/A, and -634 C/C genotypes and lower overall survival among Greek colorectal cancer patients (Dassoulas et al. 2008), and Kim *et al* similarly reported that -634 C and +936 C alleles were independent positive prognostic factors among colorectal cancer patients(Kim et al. 2008). Chae and co-workers presented results in line with those obtained by Dassoulas and Kim, supporting similar influences of +936 C/T and -460 T/C polymorphisms, the latter being in strong LD with -634 G/C, on colorectal cancer progression in a Korean population (Chae et al. 2008).

In the present study, genotype/haplotype frequencies were analysed in strata according to Duke's stage and other clinicopathological parameters without revealing any significant associations. Taken together, results of different studies are still diverse, and the role and contribution of VEGF gene variations in colorectal carcinogenesis can not vet be concluded. A general disadvantage with the above-mentioned studies, including ours, is the relatively small sample sizes included. Although the power for analysing associations in the entire population may be sufficient, analyses of possible associations among smaller subgroups result in weaker power and considerable risks of type II errors. Hence, larger studies are requested before any general conclusions can be drawn regarding VEGF polymorphisms as potential biomarkers. Further, it would be of considerable interest to analyse VEGF polymorphisms in relation with clinical response to VEGF targeting therapy. Very recently, Schneider et al (Schneider et al. 2008) reported an association of -2578 A and -1154 A alleles and improved overall survival among breast cancer patients treated with VEGF inhibitor in combination with chemotherapeutics, and Jin et al earlier reported associations with VEGF genotypes and breast tumour characteristics (Jin et al. 2005). Whether similar relations are evident with regard to colorectal cancer therapy and prognosis need future elucidation.

## CONCLUSIONS

Accumulating evidence suggest that inflammation-related genes and mediators play significant roles in the development and progression of neoplasias, and the search for biomarkers and potential drug targets of cancer-related inflammation is an area of major interest. In the current thesis, cell cultures, animal models, and biopsies of human tumours were employed to characterize the role and relevance of certain inflammation-related genes and genetic variations within the colorectal cancer context.

First, we conclude that mPGES-1 is critical for PGE<sub>2</sub> generation in colon tumour cells, although blocking mPGES-1/PGE<sub>2</sub> may paradoxically promote tumourigenesis by shunting the eicosanoid synthesis towards other pro-tumoural mediators. The mutational status of the APC gene is associated with tumour cell expression of mPGES-1 by a mechanism that involves mRNA stabilisation, and points to a complex relationship between the APC and PGE<sub>2</sub> pathways.

Second, analyses of variations of the NOS2, MMP, and VEGF encoding genes reveal that a SNP located at -1607 in the MMP-1 gene promoter constitutes a potential susceptibility factor for developing colorectal cancer. Similarly, a rather uncommon combination of two individual SNPs (-2578 and +936) of the VEGF gene may enhance the risk of developing colorectal cancer, although other investigated variations of VEGF, NOS2, and MMP genes do not contribute to colorectal cancer occurrence or characteristics.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to the following persons:

Professor Peter Söderkvist, my supervisor and tutor, for giving me the opportunity to explore the amazing field of molecular biology and genetics. Thank you for your neverending trust and support, for all inspiring discussions, and for creating a friendly and open atmosphere at the lab. Also thank you for your friendship and great sense of humour.

Dr. Karin Fransén, my co-supervisor, for fruitful cooperation, and for inspiring me to start this project. Thank you for your patience and many advices when introducing me to the basics of molecular biology during my first period at the lab.

Other colleagues and collaborators who have significantly contributed to the present papers: Mr. Jonas Ungerbäck, my 'brother-in-arms' at the lab, for our close and fruitful work together, for laughter, friendship, and numerous of more or less scientific discussions both at and outside work; Dr. Jianlin Zhou, Dr. Jan Dimberg, and Dr. Hans Olsson, for your indispensable contributions to our common projects; Professor Shizuo Akira and Dr. Satoshi Uematsu, for fruitful cooperation.

All members of the Söderkvist lab: Laboratory technicians Mrs. Annette Molbaek and Mrs. Åsa Schippert, for all your technical help and advice, and for contributing to the very nice atmosphere at floor 9; Dr. Patiyan Andersson and Dr. Lotta Harnevik, former room-mates, for a lot of scientific and methodological advice during my start up period, and for friendship and many nice after-work activities; Dr. Lena Thunell, for teaching me the elegant art of immunohistochemistry; Mrs. Deepti Verma, for common dedication to inflammation-related genes, and for fruitful collaboration outside this thesis; Dr. Anneli Karlsson, for our shared interest (?) in setting up Western blot protocols. Also thanks to all students at the lab; Gustav, Aksa, John, Annika, and many more.

Other colleagues, laboratory technicians, and administrative staff at the Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, with special thanks to the following persons: professor Jan-Ingvar Jönsson, for always taking time for discussions and advice; Mrs. Pia Druid and Ms. Pernilla Eliasson, for invaluable help with Western blot optimization; Mr. Johan Juncker,

for being helpful at any time of the day (or night) when the fluorescent microscope was needed; Dr. Alf Kastbom, for inspiring discussions during the set-up of primer extension and HPLC analyses; Professor Sven Hammarström and Dr. Mats Söderström, for expert advice regarding the measurement of prostaglandins; Dr. Gunilla Westermark, for support during IHC optimization; Dr. Linda Engström and Mrs. Ludmila Mackerlova, for methodological and technical discussions; Mr. Dan Linghammar with staff, for taking care of the animals in a professional way.

Members at the Department of Clinical Genetics, for nice coffee breaks and parties; Dr. Jon Jonasson, for your advice regarding the English language.

Friends in the 'real' world outside the field of biomedical research, no-one mentioned, but all included, for all your support.

My parents-in-law, Monika and Benny, for invaluable support, and, not least, for all your help with taking care of the children.

My parents; Margareta and Ingemar, for your everlasting support and encouragement to new challenges; Olof, Sven, and Anders, for being the best brothers and friends; Marianne, my grandmother, for always supporting me.

Louise, my beloved wife, for your patience, for all inspiring scientific and philosophic discussions, and for always being there; Arvid and Amanda, my children, for making everything worthwhile.

This work was supported by grants from the Swedish Cancer Fund, the Swedish Research Council, and Östergötland County Council.

## LITERATURE CITED

- Aggarwal BB, Shishodia S, Sandur SK, Pandey MK, Sethi G. 2006. Inflammation and cancer: how hot is the link? Biochem Pharmacol 72 (11):1605-21.
- Ahn B, Ohshima H. 2001. Suppression of intestinal polyposis in Apc(Min/+) mice by inhibiting nitric oxide production. Cancer Res 61 (23):8357-60.
- Ambs S, Ogunfusika MO, Merriam WG, Bennett WP, Billiar TR, Harris CC. 1998a. Upregulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in cancer-prone p53 knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95 (15):8823-8.
- Ambs S, Merriam WG, Bennett WP, Felley-Bosco E, Ogunfusika MO, Oser SM, Klein S, Shields PG, Billiar TR, Harris CC. 1998b. Frequent nitric oxide synthase-2 expression in human colon adenomas: implication for tumor angiogenesis and colon cancer progression. Cancer Res 58 (2):334-41.
- Angel P, Imagawa M, Chiu R, Stein B, Imbra RJ, Rahmsdorf HJ, Jonat C, Herrlich P, Karin M. 1987. Phorbol ester-inducible genes contain a common cis element recognized by a TPA-modulated trans-acting factor. Cell 49 (6):729-39.
- Araki Y, Okamura S, Hussain SP, Nagashima M, He P, Shiseki M, Miura K, Harris CC. 2003. Regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression by the Wnt and ras pathways. Cancer Res 63 (3):728-34.
- Baker EA, Bergin FG, Leaper DJ. 2000. Matrix metalloproteinases, their tissue inhibitors and colorectal cancer staging. Br J Surg 87 (9):1215-21.
- Baker SJ, Fearon ER, Nigro JM, Hamilton SR, Preisinger AC, Jessup JM, vanTuinen P, Ledbetter DH, Barker DF, Nakamura Y, White R, Vogelstein B. 1989. Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. Science 244 (4901):217-21.
- Balkwill F, Mantovani A. 2001. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? Lancet 357 (9255):539-45.
- Barnes CJ, Lee M. 1998. Chemoprevention of spontaneous intestinal adenomas in the adenomatous polyposis coli Min mouse model with aspirin. Gastroenterology 114 (5):873-7.
- Bellamy R, Hill AV. 1997. A bi-allelic tetranucleotide repeat in the promoter of the human inducible nitric oxide synthase gene. Clin Genet 52 (3):192-3.
- Birk DM, Barbato J, Mureebe L, Chaer RA. 2008. Current insights on the biology and clinical aspects of VEGF regulation. Vasc Endovascular Surg 42 (6):517-30.
- Borrello MG, Alberti L, Fischer A, Degl'innocenti D, Ferrario C, Gariboldi M, Marchesi F, Allavena P, Greco A, Collini P, Pilotti S, Cassinelli G, Bressan P, Fugazzola L, Mantovani A, Pierotti MA. 2005. Induction of a proinflammatory program in normal human thyrocytes by the RET/PTC1 oncogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102 (41):14825-30.
- Boulet L, Ouellet M, Bateman KP, Ethier D, Percival MD, Riendeau D, Mancini JA, Methot N. 2004. Deletion of microsomal prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) synthase-1 reduces inducible and basal PGE2 production and alters the gastric prostanoid profile. J Biol Chem 279 (22):23229-37.
- Boutlis CS, Hobbs MR, Marsh RL, Misukonis MA, Tkachuk AN, Lagog M, Booth J, Granger DL, Bockarie MJ, Mgone CS, Levesque MC, Weinberg JB, Anstey NM. 2003. Inducible nitric oxide synthase (NOS2) promoter CCTTT repeat polymorphism: relationship to in vivo nitric oxide production/NOS activity in an asymptomatic malaria-endemic population. Am J Trop Med Hyg 69 (6):569-73.

- Brabletz T, Jung A, Dag S, Hlubek F, Kirchner T. 1999. beta-catenin regulates the expression of the matrix metalloproteinase-7 in human colorectal cancer. Am J Pathol 155 (4):1033-8.
- Brenneis C, Coste O, Schmidt R, Angioni C, Popp L, Nusing RM, Becker W, Scholich K, Geisslinger G. 2008. Consequences of altered eicosanoid patterns for nociceptive processing in mPGES-1-deficient mice. J Cell Mol Med 12 (2):639-48.
- Brogan IJ, Khan N, Isaac K, Hutchinson JA, Pravica V, Hutchinson IV. 1999. Novel polymorphisms in the promoter and 5' UTR regions of the human vascular endothelial growth factor gene. Hum Immunol 60 (12):1245-9.
- Brune B, von Knethen A, Sandau KB. 2001. Transcription factors p53 and HIF-1alpha as targets of nitric oxide. Cell Signal 13 (8):525-33.
- Burnett R, Guichard Y, Barale E. 1997. Immunohistochemistry for light microscopy in safety evaluation of therapeutic agents: an overview. Toxicology 119 (1):83-93.
- Burnette WN. 1981. "Western blotting": electrophoretic transfer of proteins from sodium dodecyl sulfate--polyacrylamide gels to unmodified nitrocellulose and radiographic detection with antibody and radioiodinated protein A. Anal Biochem 112 (2):195-203.
- Butt C, Lim S, Greenwood C, Rahman P. 2007. VEGF, FGF1, FGF2 and EGF gene polymorphisms and psoriatic arthritis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 8:1.
- Castellone MD, Teramoto H, Williams BO, Druey KM, Gutkind JS. 2005. Prostaglandin E2 promotes colon cancer cell growth through a Gs-axin-beta-catenin signaling axis. Science 310 (5753):1504-10.
- Chae YS, Kim JG, Sohn SK, Cho YY, Ahn BM, Moon JH, Jeon SW, Park JY, Lee IT, Choi GS, Jun SH. 2008. Association of vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphisms with susceptibility and clinicopathologic characteristics of colorectal cancer. J Korean Med Sci 23 (3):421-7.
- Chartrain NA, Geller DA, Koty PP, Sitrin NF, Nussler AK, Hoffman EP, Billiar TR, Hutchinson NI, Mudgett JS. 1994. Molecular cloning, structure, and chromosomal localization of the human inducible nitric oxide synthase gene. J Biol Chem 269 (9):6765-72.
- Check WA. 1982. Prostaglandins research captures Nobel prize. Jama 248 (18):2212-3.
- Chell S, Kaidi A, Williams AC, Paraskeva C. 2006. Mediators of PGE2 synthesis and signalling downstream of COX-2 represent potential targets for the prevention/treatment of colorectal cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 1766 (1):104-19.
- Clark IM, Swingler TE, Sampieri CL, Edwards DR. 2008. The regulation of matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 40 (6-7):1362-78.
- Clevers H. 2004. At the crossroads of inflammation and cancer. Cell 118 (6):671-4.
- Cobbs CS, Brenman JE, Aldape KD, Bredt DS, Israel MA. 1995. Expression of nitric oxide synthase in human central nervous system tumors. Cancer Res 55 (4):727-30.
- Colotta F, Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. 2009. Cancer-related inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability. Carcinogenesis 30 (7):1073-81.
- Couzin J. 2006. Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine. Method to silence genes earns loud praise. Science 314 (5796):34.
- Crawford HC, Fingleton BM, Rudolph-Owen LA, Goss KJ, Rubinfeld B, Polakis P, Matrisian LM. 1999. The metalloproteinase matrilysin is a target of beta-catenin transactivation in intestinal tumors. Oncogene 18 (18):2883-91.
- Cutler NS, Graves-Deal R, LaFleur BJ, Gao Z, Boman BM, Whitehead RH, Terry E, Morrow JD, Coffey RJ. 2003. Stromal production of prostacyclin confers an antiapoptotic effect to colonic epithelial cells. Cancer Res 63 (8):1748-51.

- Dassoulas K, Gazouli M, Rizos S, Theodoropoulos G, Christoni Z, Nikiteas N, Karakitsos P. 2008. Common polymorphisms in the vascular endothelial growth factor gene and colorectal cancer development, prognosis, and survival. Mol Carcinog.
- de la Chapelle A. 2004. Genetic predisposition to colorectal cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 4 (10):769-80.
- Deryugina EI, Quigley JP. 2006. Matrix metalloproteinases and tumor metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 25 (1):9-34.
- Dimberg J, Hugander A, Sirsjo A, Soderkvist P. 2001. Enhanced expression of cyclooxygenase-2 and nuclear beta-catenin are related to mutations in the APC gene in human colorectal cancer. Anticancer Res 21 (2A):911-5.
- Du Q, Park KS, Guo Z, He P, Nagashima M, Shao L, Sahai R, Geller DA, Hussain SP. 2006. Regulation of human nitric oxide synthase 2 expression by Wnt beta-catenin signaling. Cancer Res 66 (14):7024-31.
- Duffy MJ. 1987. Do proteases play a role in cancer invasion and metastasis? Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol 23 (5):583-9.
- Dunleavey L, Beyzade S, Ye S. 2000. Rapid genotype analysis of the stromelysin gene 5A/6A polymorphism. Atherosclerosis 151 (2):587-9.
- Eberhart CE, Coffey RJ, Radhika A, Giardiello FM, Ferrenbach S, DuBois RN. 1994. Upregulation of cyclooxygenase 2 gene expression in human colorectal adenomas and adenocarcinomas. Gastroenterology 107 (4):1183-8.
- Eisinger AL, Nadauld LD, Shelton DN, Peterson PW, Phelps RA, Chidester S, Stafforini DM, Prescott SM, Jones DA. 2006. The adenomatous polyposis coli tumor suppressor gene regulates expression of cyclooxygenase-2 by a mechanism that involves retinoic acid. J Biol Chem 281 (29):20474-82.
- Engvall E, Perlmann P. 1971. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Quantitative assay of immunoglobulin G. Immunochemistry 8 (9):871-4.
- Fan F, Wood KV. 2007. Bioluminescent assays for high-throughput screening. Assay Drug Dev Technol 5 (1):127-36.
- Fearon ER, Vogelstein B. 1990. A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 61 (5):759-67.
- Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC. 1998. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 391 (6669):806-11.
- Flower RJ. 2006. Prostaglandins, bioassay and inflammation. Br J Pharmacol 147 Suppl 1:S182-92.
- Forrester K, Ambs S, Lupold SE, Kapust RB, Spillare EA, Weinberg WC, Felley-Bosco E, Wang XW, Geller DA, Tzeng E, Billiar TR, Harris CC. 1996. Nitric oxide-induced p53 accumulation and regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression by wild-type p53. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93 (6):2442-7.
- Forsberg L, Leeb L, Thoren S, Morgenstern R, Jakobsson P. 2000. Human glutathione dependent prostaglandin E synthase: gene structure and regulation. FEBS Lett 471 (1):78-82.
- Fransén K (2005), Molecular genetic aspects of colorectal cancer development. (Linköping University Medical Dissertations; Linköping).
- Fransén K, Fenech M, Fredrikson M, Dabrosin C, Soderkvist P. 2006. Association between ulcerative growth and hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha polymorphisms in colorectal cancer patients. Mol Carcinog 45 (11):833-40.
- Fransén K, Dimberg J, Osterstrom A, Olsson A, Soderkvist P, Sirsjo A. 2002. Nitric oxide synthase 2 mRNA expression in relation to p53 and adenomatous polyposis coli mutations in primary colorectal adenocarcinomas. Surgery 131 (4):384-92.

- Gaire M, Magbanua Z, McDonnell S, McNeil L, Lovett DH, Matrisian LM. 1994. Structure and expression of the human gene for the matrix metalloproteinase matrilysin. J Biol Chem 269 (3):2032-40.
- Garcia V, Garcia JM, Silva J, Pena C, Dominguez G, Lorenzo Y, Diaz R, Alonso I, Colas A, Hurtado A, Sanchez A, Bonilla F. 2008. Levels of VEGF-A mRNA in plasma from patients with colorectal carcinoma as possible surrogate marker of angiogenesis. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 134 (11):1165-71.
- Ghilardi G, Biondi ML, Mangoni J, Leviti S, DeMonti M, Guagnellini E, Scorza R. 2001. Matrix metalloproteinase-1 promoter polymorphism 1G/2G is correlated with colorectal cancer invasiveness. Clin Cancer Res 7 (8):2344-6.
- Giantonio BJ, Catalano PJ, Meropol NJ, O'Dwyer PJ, Mitchell EP, Alberts SR, Schwartz MA, Benson AB, 3rd. 2007. Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin (FOLFOX4) for previously treated metastatic colorectal cancer: results from the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Study E3200. J Clin Oncol 25 (12):1539-44.
- Giardiello FM, Hamilton SR, Krush AJ, Piantadosi S, Hylind LM, Celano P, Booker SV, Robinson CR, Offerhaus GJ. 1993. Treatment of colonic and rectal adenomas with sulindac in familial adenomatous polyposis. N Engl J Med 328 (18):1313-6.
- Gonzalez-Gay MA, Llorca J, Sanchez E, Lopez-Nevot MA, Amoli MM, Garcia-Porrua C, Ollier WE, Martin J. 2004. Inducible but not endothelial nitric oxide synthase polymorphism is associated with susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis in northwest Spain. Rheumatology (Oxford) 43 (9):1182-5.
- Green DR, Kroemer G. 2009. Cytoplasmic functions of the tumour suppressor p53. Nature 458 (7242):1127-30.
- Grieu F, Li WQ, Iacopetta B. 2004. Genetic polymorphisms in the MMP-2 and MMP-9 genes and breast cancer phenotype. Breast Cancer Res Treat 88 (3):197-204.
- Gross J, Lapiere CM. 1962. Collagenolytic activity in amphibian tissues: a tissue culture assay. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 48:1014-22.
- Guerra C, Schuhmacher AJ, Canamero M, Grippo PJ, Verdaguer L, Perez-Gallego L, Dubus P, Sandgren EP, Barbacid M. 2007. Chronic pancreatitis is essential for induction of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma by K-Ras oncogenes in adult mice. Cancer Cell 11 (3):291-302.
- Gupta RA, Tan J, Krause WF, Geraci MW, Willson TM, Dey SK, DuBois RN. 2000. Prostacyclin-mediated activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta in colorectal cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97 (24):13275-80.
- Haenszel W. 1961. Cancer mortality among the foreign-born in the United States. J Natl Cancer Inst 26:37-132.
- Han R, Tsui S, Smith TJ. 2002. Up-regulation of prostaglandin E2 synthesis by interleukin-1beta in human orbital fibroblasts involves coordinate induction of prostaglandinendoperoxide H synthase-2 and glutathione-dependent prostaglandin E2 synthase expression. J Biol Chem 277 (19):16355-64.
- Han SW, Kim GW, Seo JS, Kim SJ, Sa KH, Park JY, Lee J, Kim SY, Goronzy JJ, Weyand CM, Kang YM. 2004. VEGF gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 43 (9):1173-7.
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. 2000. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100 (1):57-70.
- He TC, Sparks AB, Rago C, Hermeking H, Zawel L, da Costa LT, Morin PJ, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. 1998. Identification of c-MYC as a target of the APC pathway. Science 281 (5382):1509-12.
- Hettiaratchi A, Hawkins NJ, McKenzie G, Ward RL, Hunt JE, Wakefield D, Di Girolamo N. 2007. The collagenase-1 (MMP-1) gene promoter polymorphism 1607/2G is

associated with favourable prognosis in patients with colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 96 (5):783-92.

- Higuchi R, Dollinger G, Walsh PS, Griffith R. 1992. Simultaneous amplification and detection of specific DNA sequences. Biotechnology (N Y) 10 (4):413-7.
- Hinoda Y, Okayama N, Takano N, Fujimura K, Suehiro Y, Hamanaka Y, Hazama S, Kitamura Y, Kamatani N, Oka M. 2002. Association of functional polymorphisms of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-1 and MMP-3 genes with colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer 102 (5):526-9.
- Hobbs MR, Udhayakumar V, Levesque MC, Booth J, Roberts JM, Tkachuk AN, Pole A, Coon H, Kariuki S, Nahlen BL, Mwaikambo ED, Lal AL, Granger DL, Anstey NM, Weinberg JB. 2002. A new NOS2 promoter polymorphism associated with increased nitric oxide production and protection from severe malaria in Tanzanian and Kenyan children. Lancet 360 (9344):1468-75.
- Hofseth LJ, Hussain SP, Wogan GN, Harris CC. 2003. Nitric oxide in cancer and chemoprevention. Free Radic Biol Med 34 (8):955-68.
- Howell WM, Bateman AC, Turner SJ, Collins A, Theaker JM. 2002. Influence of vascular endothelial growth factor single nucleotide polymorphisms on tumour development in cutaneous malignant melanoma. Genes Immun 3 (4):229-32.
- Hsi LC, Angerman-Stewart J, Eling TE. 1999. Introduction of full-length APC modulates cyclooxygenase-2 expression in HT-29 human colorectal carcinoma cells at the translational level. Carcinogenesis 20 (11):2045-9.
- Huls G, Koornstra JJ, Kleibeuker JH. 2003. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and molecular carcinogenesis of colorectal carcinomas. Lancet 362 (9379):230-2.
- Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, Berlin J, Baron A, Griffing S, Holmgren E, Ferrara N, Fyfe G, Rogers B, Ross R, Kabbinavar F. 2004. Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 350 (23):2335-42.
- Hutvagner G. 2005. Small RNA asymmetry in RNAi: function in RISC assembly and gene regulation. FEBS Lett 579 (26):5850-7.
- Igarashi H, Esumi M, Ishida H, Okada K. 2002. Vascular endothelial growth factor overexpression is correlated with von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor gene inactivation in patients with sporadic renal cell carcinoma. Cancer 95 (1):47-53.
- Jacoby RF, Seibert K, Cole CE, Kelloff G, Lubet RA. 2000. The cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor celecoxib is a potent preventive and therapeutic agent in the min mouse model of adenomatous polyposis. Cancer Res 60 (18):5040-4.
- Jakobsson PJ, Thoren S, Morgenstern R, Samuelsson B. 1999. Identification of human prostaglandin E synthase: a microsomal, glutathione-dependent, inducible enzyme, constituting a potential novel drug target. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96 (13):7220-5.
- Jenkins DC, Charles IG, Thomsen LL, Moss DW, Holmes LS, Baylis SA, Rhodes P, Westmore K, Emson PC, Moncada S. 1995. Roles of nitric oxide in tumor growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92 (10):4392-6.
- Jin Q, Hemminki K, Enquist K, Lenner P, Grzybowska E, Klaes R, Henriksson R, Chen B, Pamula J, Pekala W, Zientek H, Rogozinska-Szczepka J, Utracka-Hutka B, Hallmans G, Forsti A. 2005. Vascular endothelial growth factor polymorphisms in relation to breast cancer development and prognosis. Clin Cancer Res 11 (10):3647-53.
- Jones GT, Phillips VL, Harris EL, Rossaak JI, van Rij AM. 2003. Functional matrix metalloproteinase-9 polymorphism (C-1562T) associated with abdominal aortic aneurysm. J Vasc Surg 38 (6):1363-7.
- Kaise M, Miwa J, Suzuki N, Mishiro S, Ohta Y, Yamasaki T, Tajiri H. 2007. Inducible nitric oxide synthase gene promoter polymorphism is associated with increased gastric

mRNA expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and increased risk of gastric carcinoma. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 19 (2):139-45.

- Kamei D, Murakami M, Nakatani Y, Ishikawa Y, Ishii T, Kudo I. 2003. Potential role of microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1 in tumorigenesis. J Biol Chem 278 (21):19396-405.
- Kamijo R, Harada H, Matsuyama T, Bosland M, Gerecitano J, Shapiro D, Le J, Koh SI, Kimura T, Green SJ, et al. 1994. Requirement for transcription factor IRF-1 in NO synthase induction in macrophages. Science 263 (5153):1612-5.
- Kawamori T, Takahashi M, Watanabe K, Ohta T, Nakatsugi S, Sugimura T, Wakabayashi K. 2000. Suppression of azoxymethane-induced colonic aberrant crypt foci by a nitric oxide synthase inhibitor. Cancer Lett 148 (1):33-7.
- Kim JG, Chae YS, Sohn SK, Cho YY, Moon JH, Park JY, Jeon SW, Lee IT, Choi GS, Jun SH. 2008. Vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphisms associated with prognosis for patients with colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14 (1):62-6.
- Kimura H, Weisz A, Kurashima Y, Hashimoto K, Ogura T, D'Acquisto F, Addeo R, Makuuchi M, Esumi H. 2000. Hypoxia response element of the human vascular endothelial growth factor gene mediates transcriptional regulation by nitric oxide: control of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 activity by nitric oxide. Blood 95 (1):189-97.
- Kimura H, Weisz A, Ogura T, Hitomi Y, Kurashima Y, Hashimoto K, D'Acquisto F, Makuuchi M, Esumi H. 2001. Identification of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 ancillary sequence and its function in vascular endothelial growth factor gene induction by hypoxia and nitric oxide. J Biol Chem 276 (3):2292-8.
- Kinzler KW, Nilbert MC, Su LK, Vogelstein B, Bryan TM, Levy DB, Smith KJ, Preisinger AC, Hedge P, McKechnie D, et al. 1991. Identification of FAP locus genes from chromosome 5q21. Science 253 (5020):661-5.
- Kitamura T, Itoh M, Noda T, Tani K, Kobayashi M, Maruyama T, Kobayashi K, Ohuchida S, Sugimura T, Wakabayashi K. 2003. Combined effects of prostaglandin E receptor subtype EP1 and subtype EP4 antagonists on intestinal tumorigenesis in adenomatous polyposis coli gene knockout mice. Cancer Sci 94 (7):618-21.
- Kleinert H, Schwarz PM, Forstermann U. 2003. Regulation of the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase. Biol Chem 384 (10-11):1343-64.
- Konno S, Hizawa N, Yamaguchi E, Jinushi E, Nishimura M. 2001. (CCTTT)n repeat polymorphism in the NOS2 gene promoter is associated with atopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108 (5):810-4.
- Koukourakis MI, Papazoglou D, Giatromanolaki A, Bougioukas G, Maltezos E, Sivridis E. 2004. VEGF gene sequence variation defines VEGF gene expression status and angiogenic activity in non-small cell lung cancer. Lung Cancer 46 (3):293-8.
- Kun JF, Mordmuller B, Lell B, Lehman LG, Luckner D, Kremsner PG. 1998. Polymorphism in promoter region of inducible nitric oxide synthase gene and protection against malaria. Lancet 351 (9098):265-6.
- Kune GA. 2000. Colorectal cancer chemoprevention: aspirin, other NSAID and COX-2 inhibitors. Aust N Z J Surg 70 (6):452-5.
- Kune GA, Kune S, Watson LF. 1988. Colorectal cancer risk, chronic illnesses, operations, and medications: case control results from the Melbourne Colorectal Cancer Study. Cancer Res 48 (15):4399-404.
- Kuwai T, Kitadai Y, Tanaka S, Onogawa S, Matsutani N, Kaio E, Ito M, Chayama K. 2003. Expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha is associated with tumor vascularization in human colorectal carcinoma. Int J Cancer 105 (2):176-81.
- Lala PK, Chakraborty C. 2001. Role of nitric oxide in carcinogenesis and tumour progression. Lancet Oncol 2 (3):149-56.

- Laurent-Puig P, Lievre A, Blons H. 2009. Mutations and response to epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitors. Clin Cancer Res 15 (4):1133-9.
- Levesque MC, Hobbs MR, Anstey NM, Vaughn TN, Chancellor JA, Pole A, Perkins DJ, Misukonis MA, Chanock SJ, Granger DL, Weinberg JB. 1999. Nitric oxide synthase type 2 promoter polymorphisms, nitric oxide production, and disease severity in Tanzanian children with malaria. J Infect Dis 180 (6):1994-2002.
- Liotta LA, Thorgeirsson UP, Garbisa S. 1982. Role of collagenases in tumor cell invasion. Cancer Metastasis Rev 1 (4):277-88.
- Lurje G, Zhang W, Schultheis AM, Yang D, Groshen S, Hendifar AE, Husain H, Gordon MA, Nagashima F, Chang HM, Lenz HJ. 2008. Polymorphisms in VEGF and IL-8 predict tumor recurrence in stage III colon cancer. Ann Oncol 19 (10):1734-41.
- Lynch HT, Krush AJ. 1971. Cancer family "G" revisited: 1895-1970. Cancer 27 (6):1505-11.
- Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. 2008. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature 454 (7203):436-44.
- Marchenko GN, Marchenko ND, Leng J, Strongin AY. 2002. Promoter characterization of the novel human matrix metalloproteinase-26 gene: regulation by the T-cell factor-4 implies specific expression of the gene in cancer cells of epithelial origin. Biochem J 363 (Pt 2):253-62.
- Martin E, Nathan C, Xie QW. 1994. Role of interferon regulatory factor 1 in induction of nitric oxide synthase. J Exp Med 180 (3):977-84.
- Matsumura S, Oue N, Nakayama H, Kitadai Y, Yoshida K, Yamaguchi Y, Imai K, Nakachi K, Matsusaki K, Chayama K, Yasui W. 2005. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the MMP-9 promoter affects tumor progression and invasive phenotype of gastric cancer. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 131 (1):19-25.
- McMichael AJ, Giles GG. 1988. Cancer in migrants to Australia: extending the descriptive epidemiological data. Cancer Res 48 (3):751-6.
- Mecklin JP. 2008. The implications of genetics in colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol 19 Suppl 5:v87-90.
- Medford AR, Keen LJ, Bidwell JL, Millar AB. 2005. Vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphism and acute respiratory distress syndrome. Thorax 60 (3):244-8.
- Mei JM, Hord NG, Winterstein DF, Donald SP, Phang JM. 1999. Differential expression of prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthase-2 and formation of activated beta-catenin-LEF-1 transcription complex in mouse colonic epithelial cells contrasting in Apc. Carcinogenesis 20 (4):737-40.
- Melillo G, Musso T, Sica A, Taylor LS, Cox GW, Varesio L. 1995. A hypoxia-responsive element mediates a novel pathway of activation of the inducible nitric oxide synthase promoter. J Exp Med 182 (6):1683-93.
- Messmer UK, Brune B. 1996. Nitric oxide-induced apoptosis: p53-dependent and p53independent signalling pathways. Biochem J 319 (Pt 1):299-305.
- Miao X, Yu C, Tan W, Xiong P, Liang G, Lu W, Lin D. 2003. A functional polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-2 gene promoter (-1306C/T) is associated with risk of development but not metastasis of gastric cardia adenocarcinoma. Cancer Res 63 (14):3987-90.
- Mignatti P, Robbins E, Rifkin DB. 1986. Tumor invasion through the human amniotic membrane: requirement for a proteinase cascade. Cell 47 (4):487-98.
- Miyaki M, Konishi M, Kikuchi-Yanoshita R, Enomoto M, Igari T, Tanaka K, Muraoka M, Takahashi H, Amada Y, Fukayama M, et al. 1994. Characteristics of somatic mutation of the adenomatous polyposis coli gene in colorectal tumors. Cancer Res 54 (11):3011-20.

- Miyoshi Y, Nagase H, Ando H, Horii A, Ichii S, Nakatsuru S, Aoki T, Miki Y, Mori T, Nakamura Y. 1992. Somatic mutations of the APC gene in colorectal tumors: mutation cluster region in the APC gene. Hum Mol Genet 1 (4):229-33.
- Mook OR, Frederiks WM, Van Noorden CJ. 2004. The role of gelatinases in colorectal cancer progression and metastasis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1705 (2):69-89.
- Morin PJ, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW. 1996. Apoptosis and APC in colorectal tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93 (15):7950-4.
- Morris BJ, Markus A, Glenn CL, Adams DJ, Colagiuri S, Wang L. 2002. Association of a functional inducible nitric oxide synthase promoter variant with complications in type 2 diabetes. J Mol Med 80 (2):96-104.
- Moser AR, Pitot HC, Dove WF. 1990. A dominant mutation that predisposes to multiple intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. Science 247 (4940):322-4.
- Mukhopadhyay D, Tsiokas L, Zhou XM, Foster D, Brugge JS, Sukhatme VP. 1995. Hypoxic induction of human vascular endothelial growth factor expression through c-Src activation. Nature 375 (6532):577-81.
- Murakami M, Kudo I. 2006. Prostaglandin E synthase: a novel drug target for inflammation and cancer. Curr Pharm Des 12 (8):943-54.
- Murray GI, Duncan ME, O'Neil P, Melvin WT, Fothergill JE. 1996. Matrix metalloproteinase-1 is associated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. Nat Med 2 (4):461-2.
- Mutoh M, Watanabe K, Kitamura T, Shoji Y, Takahashi M, Kawamori T, Tani K, Kobayashi M, Maruyama T, Kobayashi K, Ohuchida S, Sugimoto Y, Narumiya S, Sugimura T, Wakabayashi K. 2002. Involvement of prostaglandin E receptor subtype EP(4) in colon carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 62 (1):28-32.
- Nakanishi M, Montrose DC, Clark P, Nambiar PR, Belinsky GS, Claffey KP, Xu D, Rosenberg DW. 2008. Genetic deletion of mPGES-1 suppresses intestinal tumorigenesis. Cancer Res 68 (9):3251-9.
- Nam EJ, Han SW, Kim SU, Cho JH, Sa KH, Lee WK, Park JY, Kang YM. 2005. Association of vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphisms with behcet disease in a Korean population. Hum Immunol 66 (10):1068-73.
- Naraba H, Yokoyama C, Tago N, Murakami M, Kudo I, Fueki M, Oh-Ishi S, Tanabe T. 2002. Transcriptional regulation of the membrane-associated prostaglandin E2 synthase gene. Essential role of the transcription factor Egr-1. J Biol Chem 277 (32):28601-8.
- Nardone G, Rocco A, Vaira D, Staibano S, Budillon A, Tatangelo F, Sciulli MG, Perna F, Salvatore G, Di Benedetto M, De Rosa G, Patrignani P. 2004. Expression of COX-2, mPGE-synthase1, MDR-1 (P-gp), and Bcl-xL: a molecular pathway of H pylorirelated gastric carcinogenesis. J Pathol 202 (3):305-12.
- Nishisho I, Nakamura Y, Miyoshi Y, Miki Y, Ando H, Horii A, Koyama K, Utsunomiya J, Baba S, Hedge P. 1991. Mutations of chromosome 5q21 genes in FAP and colorectal cancer patients. Science 253 (5020):665-9.
- The Nobel prizewinners 1978: medicine. From modest beginnings. 1978. Nature 275 (5682):689-90.
- Ohashi J, Naka I, Patarapotikul J, Hananantachai H, Looareesuwan S, Tokunaga K. 2002. Significant association of longer forms of CCTTT Microsatellite repeat in the inducible nitric oxide synthase promoter with severe malaria in Thailand. J Infect Dis 186 (4):578-81.
- Orita M, Suzuki Y, Sekiya T, Hayashi K. 1989a. Rapid and sensitive detection of point mutations and DNA polymorphisms using the polymerase chain reaction. Genomics 5 (4):874-9.

- Orita M, Iwahana H, Kanazawa H, Hayashi K, Sekiya T. 1989b. Detection of polymorphisms of human DNA by gel electrophoresis as single-strand conformation polymorphisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86 (8):2766-70.
- Oshima M, Murai N, Kargman S, Arguello M, Luk P, Kwong E, Taketo MM, Evans JF. 2001. Chemoprevention of intestinal polyposis in the Apcdelta716 mouse by rofecoxib, a specific cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor. Cancer Res 61 (4):1733-40.
- Oshima M, Dinchuk JE, Kargman SL, Oshima H, Hancock B, Kwong E, Trzaskos JM, Evans JF, Taketo MM. 1996. Suppression of intestinal polyposis in Apc delta716 knockout mice by inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2). Cell 87 (5):803-9.
- Overall CM, Kleifeld O. 2006. Towards third generation matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors for cancer therapy. Br J Cancer 94 (7):941-6.
- Pages G, Pouyssegur J. 2005. Transcriptional regulation of the Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor gene--a concert of activating factors. Cardiovasc Res 65 (3):564-73.
- Park JM, Kanaoka Y, Eguchi N, Aritake K, Grujic S, Materi AM, Buslon VS, Tippin BL, Kwong AM, Salido E, French SW, Urade Y, Lin HJ. 2007. Hematopoietic prostaglandin D synthase suppresses intestinal adenomas in ApcMin/+ mice. Cancer Res 67 (3):881-9.
- Parkin DM. 2004. International variation. Oncogene 23 (38):6329-40.
- Parkin DM, Muir CS. 1992. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents. Comparability and quality of data. IARC Sci Publ (120):45-173.
- Parsons SL, Watson SA, Collins HM, Griffin NR, Clarke PA, Steele RJ. 1998. Gelatinase (MMP-2 and -9) expression in gastrointestinal malignancy. Br J Cancer 78 (11):1495-502.
- Pascual M, Lopez-Nevot MA, Caliz R, Koeleman BP, Balsa A, Pascual-Salcedo D, Martin J. 2002. Genetic determinants of rheumatoid arthritis: the inducible nitric oxide synthase (NOS2) gene promoter polymorphism. Genes Immun 3 (5):299-301.
- Pauli BU, Schwartz DE, Thonar EJ, Kuettner KE. 1983. Tumor invasion and host extracellular matrix. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2 (2):129-52.
- Potter JD. 1999. Colorectal cancer: molecules and populations. J Natl Cancer Inst 91 (11):916-32.
- Pradono P, Tazawa R, Maemondo M, Tanaka M, Usui K, Saijo Y, Hagiwara K, Nukiwa T. 2002. Gene transfer of thromboxane A(2) synthase and prostaglandin I(2) synthase antithetically altered tumor angiogenesis and tumor growth. Cancer Res 62 (1):63-6.
- Prescott SM, White RL. 1996. Self-promotion? Intimate connections between APC and prostaglandin H synthase-2. Cell 87 (5):783-6.
- Price SJ, Greaves DR, Watkins H. 2001. Identification of novel, functional genetic variants in the human matrix metalloproteinase-2 gene: role of Sp1 in allele-specific transcriptional regulation. J Biol Chem 276 (10):7549-58.
- Pugh S, Thomas GA. 1994. Patients with adenomatous polyps and carcinomas have increased colonic mucosal prostaglandin E2. Gut 35 (5):675-8.
- Qualtrough D, Kaidi A, Chell S, Jabbour HN, Williams AC, Paraskeva C. 2007. Prostaglandin F(2alpha) stimulates motility and invasion in colorectal tumor cells. Int J Cancer 121 (4):734-40.
- Rak J, Filmus J, Finkenzeller G, Grugel S, Marme D, Kerbel RS. 1995a. Oncogenes as inducers of tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Metastasis Rev 14 (4):263-77.
- Rak J, Mitsuhashi Y, Bayko L, Filmus J, Shirasawa S, Sasazuki T, Kerbel RS. 1995b. Mutant ras oncogenes upregulate VEGF/VPF expression: implications for induction and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Res 55 (20):4575-80.

- Rao CV, Kawamori T, Hamid R, Reddy BS. 1999. Chemoprevention of colonic aberrant crypt foci by an inducible nitric oxide synthase-selective inhibitor. Carcinogenesis 20 (4):641-4.
- Rao CV, Indranie C, Simi B, Manning PT, Connor JR, Reddy BS. 2002. Chemopreventive properties of a selective inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibitor in colon carcinogenesis, administered alone or in combination with celecoxib, a selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor. Cancer Res 62 (1):165-70.
- Renart J, Reiser J, Stark GR. 1979. Transfer of proteins from gels to diazobenzyloxymethylpaper and detection with antisera: a method for studying antibody specificity and antigen structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 76 (7):3116-20.
- Renner W, Kotschan S, Hoffmann C, Obermayer-Pietsch B, Pilger E. 2000. A common 936 C/T mutation in the gene for vascular endothelial growth factor is associated with vascular endothelial growth factor plasma levels. J Vasc Res 37 (6):443-8.
- Rigas B, Goldman IS, Levine L. 1993. Altered eicosanoid levels in human colon cancer. J Lab Clin Med 122 (5):518-23.
- Russo A, Bazan V, Iacopetta B, Kerr D, Soussi T, Gebbia N. 2005. The TP53 colorectal cancer international collaborative study on the prognostic and predictive significance of p53 mutation: influence of tumor site, type of mutation, and adjuvant treatment. J Clin Oncol 23 (30):7518-28.
- Rutter JL, Mitchell TI, Buttice G, Meyers J, Gusella JF, Ozelius LJ, Brinckerhoff CE. 1998. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-1 promoter creates an Ets binding site and augments transcription. Cancer Res 58 (23):5321-5.
- Sakai H, Suzuki T, Takahashi Y, Ukai M, Tauchi K, Fujii T, Horikawa N, Minamimura T, Tabuchi Y, Morii M, Tsukada K, Takeguchi N. 2006. Upregulation of thromboxane synthase in human colorectal carcinoma and the cancer cell proliferation by thromboxane A2. FEBS Lett 580 (14):3368-74.
- Salimath B, Marme D, Finkenzeller G. 2000. Expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor gene is inhibited by p73. Oncogene 19 (31):3470-6.
- Sampey AV, Monrad S, Crofford LJ. 2005. Microsomal prostaglandin E synthase-1: the inducible synthase for prostaglandin E2. Arthritis Res Ther 7 (3):114-7.
- Samuelsson B. 1983. From studies of biochemical mechanism to novel biological mediators: prostaglandin endoperoxides, thromboxanes, and leukotrienes. Nobel Lecture, 8 December 1982. Biosci Rep 3 (9):791-813.
- Sandau KB, Faus HG, Brune B. 2000. Induction of hypoxia-inducible-factor 1 by nitric oxide is mediated via the PI 3K pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 278 (1):263-7.
- Sandau KB, Fandrey J, Brune B. 2001a. Accumulation of HIF-1alpha under the influence of nitric oxide. Blood 97 (4):1009-15.
- Sandau KB, Zhou J, Kietzmann T, Brune B. 2001b. Regulation of the hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha by the inflammatory mediators nitric oxide and tumor necrosis factoralpha in contrast to desferroxamine and phenylarsine oxide. J Biol Chem 276 (43):39805-11.
- Saura M, Zaragoza C, Bao C, McMillan A, Lowenstein CJ. 1999. Interaction of interferon regulatory factor-1 and nuclear factor kappaB during activation of inducible nitric oxide synthase transcription. J Mol Biol 289 (3):459-71.
- Sawa T, Mounawar M, Tatemichi M, Gilibert I, Katoh T, Ohshima H. 2008. Increased risk of gastric cancer in Japanese subjects is associated with microsatellite polymorphisms in the heme oxygenase-1 and the inducible nitric oxide synthase gene promoters. Cancer Lett 269 (1):78-84.
- Schneider BP, Wang M, Radovich M, Sledge GW, Badve S, Thor A, Flockhart DA, Hancock B, Davidson N, Gralow J, Dickler M, Perez EA, Cobleigh M, Shenkier T, Edgerton S,

Miller KD. 2008. Association of vascular endothelial growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 genetic polymorphisms with outcome in a trial of paclitaxel compared with paclitaxel plus bevacizumab in advanced breast cancer: ECOG 2100. J Clin Oncol 26 (28):4672-8.

- Schneikert J, Behrens J. 2007. The canonical Wnt signalling pathway and its APC partner in colon cancer development. Gut 56 (3):417-25.
- Scott DJ, Hull MA, Cartwright EJ, Lam WK, Tisbury A, Poulsom R, Markham AF, Bonifer C, Coletta PL. 2001. Lack of inducible nitric oxide synthase promotes intestinal tumorigenesis in the Apc(Min/+) mouse. Gastroenterology 121 (4):889-99.
- Senger DR, Galli SJ, Dvorak AM, Perruzzi CA, Harvey VS, Dvorak HF. 1983. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. Science 219 (4587):983-5.
- Sfar S, Hassen E, Saad H, Mosbah F, Chouchane L. 2006. Association of VEGF genetic polymorphisms with prostate carcinoma risk and clinical outcome. Cytokine 35 (1-2):21-8.
- Shen CH, Wang YH, Wang WC, Jou YC, Hsu HS, Hsieh HY, Chiou HY. 2007. Inducible nitric oxide synthase promoter polymorphism, cigarette smoking, and urothelial carcinoma risk. Urology 69 (5):1001-6.
- Smith KJ, Johnson KA, Bryan TM, Hill DE, Markowitz S, Willson JK, Paraskeva C, Petersen GM, Hamilton SR, Vogelstein B, et al. 1993. The APC gene product in normal and tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90 (7):2846-50.
- Smith O. 1998. Nobel Prize for NO research. Nat Med 4 (11):1215.
- Sonoshita M, Takaku K, Sasaki N, Sugimoto Y, Ushikubi F, Narumiya S, Oshima M, Taketo MM. 2001. Acceleration of intestinal polyposis through prostaglandin receptor EP2 in Apc(Delta 716) knockout mice. Nat Med 7 (9):1048-51.
- Sparmann A, Bar-Sagi D. 2004. Ras-induced interleukin-8 expression plays a critical role in tumor growth and angiogenesis. Cancer Cell 6 (5):447-58.
- Sparmann A, Bar-Sagi D. 2005. Ras oncogene and inflammation: partners in crime. Cell Cycle 4 (6):735-6.
- St-Pierre Y, Couillard J, Van Themsche C. 2004. Regulation of MMP-9 gene expression for the development of novel molecular targets against cancer and inflammatory diseases. Expert Opin Ther Targets 8 (5):473-89.
- Stevens A, Soden J, Brenchley PE, Ralph S, Ray DW. 2003. Haplotype analysis of the polymorphic human vascular endothelial growth factor gene promoter. Cancer Res 63 (4):812-6.
- Su LK, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B, Preisinger AC, Moser AR, Luongo C, Gould KA, Dove WF. 1992. Multiple intestinal neoplasia caused by a mutation in the murine homolog of the APC gene. Science 256 (5057):668-70.
- Sumimoto H, Imabayashi F, Iwata T, Kawakami Y. 2006. The BRAF-MAPK signaling pathway is essential for cancer-immune evasion in human melanoma cells. J Exp Med 203 (7):1651-6.
- Takayama T, Miyanishi K, Hayashi T, Sato Y, Niitsu Y. 2006. Colorectal cancer: genetics of development and metastasis. J Gastroenterol 41 (3):185-92.
- Tamir S, Tannenbaum SR. 1996. The role of nitric oxide (NO.) in the carcinogenic process. Biochim Biophys Acta 1288 (2):F31-6.
- Tamir S, Burney S, Tannenbaum SR. 1996. DNA damage by nitric oxide. Chem Res Toxicol 9 (5):821-7.
- Tatemichi M, Sawa T, Gilibert I, Tazawa H, Katoh T, Ohshima H. 2005. Increased risk of intestinal type of gastric adenocarcinoma in Japanese women associated with long

forms of CCTTT pentanucleotide repeat in the inducible nitric oxide synthase promoter. Cancer Lett 217 (2):197-202.

- Tendler DS, Bao C, Wang T, Huang EL, Ratovitski EA, Pardoll DA, Lowenstein CJ. 2001. Intersection of interferon and hypoxia signal transduction pathways in nitric oxideinduced tumor apoptosis. Cancer Res 61 (9):3682-8.
- Tetsu O, McCormick F. 1999. Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. Nature 398 (6726):422-6.
- Thomsen LL, Lawton FG, Knowles RG, Beesley JE, Riveros-Moreno V, Moncada S. 1994. Nitric oxide synthase activity in human gynecological cancer. Cancer Res 54 (5):1352-4.
- Tischer E, Mitchell R, Hartman T, Silva M, Gospodarowicz D, Fiddes JC, Abraham JA. 1991. The human gene for vascular endothelial growth factor. Multiple protein forms are encoded through alternative exon splicing. J Biol Chem 266 (18):11947-54.
- Towbin H, Staehelin T, Gordon J. 1979. Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 76 (9):4350-4.
- Trebino CE, Eskra JD, Wachtmann TS, Perez JR, Carty TJ, Audoly LP. 2005. Redirection of eicosanoid metabolism in mPGES-1-deficient macrophages. J Biol Chem 280 (17):16579-85.
- Turini ME, DuBois RN. 2002. Cyclooxygenase-2: a therapeutic target. Annu Rev Med 53:35-57.
- Uematsu S, Matsumoto M, Takeda K, Akira S. 2002. Lipopolysaccharide-dependent prostaglandin E(2) production is regulated by the glutathione-dependent prostaglandin E(2) synthase gene induced by the Toll-like receptor 4/MyD88/NF-IL6 pathway. J Immunol 168 (11):5811-6.
- Waddell WR, Loughry RW. 1983. Sulindac for polyposis of the colon. J Surg Oncol 24 (1):83-7.
- Vagefi PA, Longo WE. 2005. Colorectal cancer in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Colorectal Cancer 4 (5):313-9.
- Van Weemen BK, Schuurs AH. 1971. Immunoassay using antigen-enzyme conjugates. FEBS Lett 15 (3):232-36.
- Vane JR. 1971. Inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis as a mechanism of action for aspirin-like drugs. Nat New Biol 231 (25):232-5.
- Wang D, Dubois RN. 2008. Pro-inflammatory prostaglandins and progression of colorectal cancer. Cancer Lett.
- Wang D, Wang H, Guo Y, Ning W, Katkuri S, Wahli W, Desvergne B, Dey SK, DuBois RN. 2006. Crosstalk between peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta and VEGF stimulates cancer progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103 (50):19069-74.
- Wang Y, Fang S, Wei L, Wang R, Jin X, Wen D, Li Y, Guo W, Wang N, Zhang J. 2005. No association between the C-1562T polymorphism in the promoter of matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene and non-small cell lung carcinoma. Lung Cancer 49 (2):155-61.
- Watson CJ, Webb NJ, Bottomley MJ, Brenchley PE. 2000. Identification of polymorphisms within the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) gene: correlation with variation in VEGF protein production. Cytokine 12 (8):1232-5.
- Woolley DE. 1984. Collagenolytic mechanisms in tumor cell invasion. Cancer Metastasis Rev 3 (4):361-72.
- Wu B, Crampton SP, Hughes CC. 2007. Wnt signaling induces matrix metalloproteinase expression and regulates T cell transmigration. Immunity 26 (2):227-39.

- Xu E, Lai M, Lv B, Xing X, Huang Q, Xia X. 2004. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-2 promoter is associated with colorectal cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 324 (3):999-1003.
- Xu W, Liu L, Emson PC, Harrington CR, Charles IG. 1997. Evolution of a homopurinehomopyrimidine pentanucleotide repeat sequence upstream of the human inducible nitric oxide synthase gene. Gene 204 (1-2):165-70.
- Yamamori M, Sakaeda T, Nakamura T, Okamura N, Tamura T, Aoyama N, Kamigaki T, Ohno M, Shirakawa T, Gotoh A, Kuroda Y, Matsuo M, Kasuga M, Okumura K. 2004. Association of VEGF genotype with mRNA level in colorectal adenocarcinomas. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 325 (1):144-50.
- Ye S. 2000. Polymorphism in matrix metalloproteinase gene promoters: implication in regulation of gene expression and susceptibility of various diseases. Matrix Biol 19 (7):623-9.
- Ye S, Watts GF, Mandalia S, Humphries SE, Henney AM. 1995. Preliminary report: genetic variation in the human stromelysin promoter is associated with progression of coronary atherosclerosis. Br Heart J 73 (3):209-15.
- Ye S, Eriksson P, Hamsten A, Kurkinen M, Humphries SE, Henney AM. 1996. Progression of coronary atherosclerosis is associated with a common genetic variant of the human stromelysin-1 promoter which results in reduced gene expression. J Biol Chem 271 (22):13055-60.
- Yokoyama I, Hayashi S, Kobayashi T, Negita M, Yasutomi M, Uchida K, Takagi H. 1995. Prevention of experimental hepatic metastasis with thromboxane synthase inhibitor. Res Exp Med (Berl) 195 (4):209-15.
- Yoshimatsu K, Altorki NK, Golijanin D, Zhang F, Jakobsson PJ, Dannenberg AJ, Subbaramaiah K. 2001a. Inducible prostaglandin E synthase is overexpressed in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res 7 (9):2669-74.
- Yoshimatsu K, Golijanin D, Paty PB, Soslow RA, Jakobsson PJ, DeLellis RA, Subbaramaiah K, Dannenberg AJ. 2001b. Inducible microsomal prostaglandin E synthase is overexpressed in colorectal adenomas and cancer. Clin Cancer Res 7 (12):3971-6.
- Yu C, Pan K, Xing D, Liang G, Tan W, Zhang L, Lin D. 2002. Correlation between a single nucleotide polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-2 promoter and risk of lung cancer. Cancer Res 62 (22):6430-3.
- Zachary I, Gliki G. 2001. Signaling transduction mechanisms mediating biological actions of the vascular endothelial growth factor family. Cardiovasc Res 49 (3):568-81.
- Zamuner SR, Bak AW, Devchand PR, Wallace JL. 2005. Predisposition to colorectal cancer in rats with resolved colitis: role of cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostaglandin d2. Am J Pathol 167 (5):1293-300.
- Zhang B, Ye S, Herrmann SM, Eriksson P, de Maat M, Evans A, Arveiler D, Luc G, Cambien F, Hamsten A, Watkins H, Henney AM. 1999. Functional polymorphism in the regulatory region of gelatinase B gene in relation to severity of coronary atherosclerosis. Circulation 99 (14):1788-94.
- Zhang L, Yu D, Hu M, Xiong S, Lang A, Ellis LM, Pollock RE. 2000. Wild-type p53 suppresses angiogenesis in human leiomyosarcoma and synovial sarcoma by transcriptional suppression of vascular endothelial growth factor expression. Cancer Res 60 (13):3655-61.
- Zhang X, Gaspard JP, Chung DC. 2001. Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by the Wnt and K-ras pathways in colonic neoplasia. Cancer Res 61 (16):6050-4.
- Zhong H, De Marzo AM, Laughner E, Lim M, Hilton DA, Zagzag D, Buechler P, Isaacs WB, Semenza GL, Simons JW. 1999. Overexpression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha in common human cancers and their metastases. Cancer Res 59 (22):5830-5.

- Zhuang JC, Wright TL, deRojas-Walker T, Tannenbaum SR, Wogan GN. 2000. Nitric oxideinduced mutations in the HPRT gene of human lymphoblastoid TK6 cells and in Salmonella typhimurium. Environ Mol Mutagen 35 (1):39-47.
- Zinzindohoue F, Lecomte T, Ferraz JM, Houllier AM, Cugnenc PH, Berger A, Blons H, Laurent-Puig P. 2005. Prognostic significance of MMP-1 and MMP-3 functional promoter polymorphisms in colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res 11 (2 Pt 1):594-9.
- Zinzindohoue F, Blons H, Hans S, Loriot MA, Houllier AM, Brasnu D, Laccourreye O, Tregouet DA, Stucker I, Laurent-Puig P. 2004. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in MMP1 and MMP3 gene promoters as risk factor in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Anticancer Res 24 (3b):2021-6.
- Zucker S, Vacirca J. 2004. Role of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in colorectal cancer. Cancer Metastasis Rev 23 (1-2):101-17.